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STREETCAR SUBURBS OF DALLAS: COLONIAL HILLS EAST DALEAS ﬁnnﬁsiﬁTﬂ*bhﬁﬁas

INTRODUCTION

The Dallas'heighborhoods surveyed in this projecf can alil hﬁﬁviﬁﬁed“as
nmanifestations of.Dallas ' early suburhanlzatlon ﬂun to their physﬁcal FatapeaniRi b.
to the central bu51ness dlstrlct their early r351dent1a1 character, thelr
establishment along streetcar llnes and the nromot1onal technluues ewﬁloye&iby
their develqpers. Beyond these similarities the nelghborhoods d1verae 1nt0 thfee

distinetly different areas of study. For the purposes oft thls nomination, a§ iwell

as future planning efforts, ir'may be mostgusefulhto conslqer them f1rst as

e

extensions of Dallas’ emergence as a major transportation and distributiofi“ddffer

and then separately as the unigue communities of Edst Dallas, Colonial Hi11;%and

South Dallas.

East Dallas is the historic name of a2 separate munlclpallty that developed w0

-

niles east of the Dallas courthouse. The gr'chy areg knewn _

s;MalliﬁﬁieKﬁﬁaﬁwan
integral part of East Dallas. Mill Creek
precedent. The creek 1tself runs to the west nf the pfﬁject area. an&‘ha&IIiEEHe

impact on its development. Colonial Hlll 1: the name tradltl&ﬁdbl?“ﬁﬁ%d to

describe several South Dallas'addltlons east.of CentralpExpressv _f

subdivided in the 1880s and early 18905. The ncrtlon o~ Colonlaf 3 h%ﬁﬁes

©in the survey area 15 con51dered part of South Dallas tndaywbut hrﬁ@gﬁ%cﬁllfjigkﬁes

had an identity very senarate from the tradzt1onail§ black.c,mmuﬁh%v tdjﬁbéﬂsaﬁkh

and east of it. .In thls nomlnatlon South Dallas refers-nnlvxto Ehﬁseiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁfhs
south of Harren Avanue that were platted and develoned‘éxclusbvélv %orJBT%ck

fanilies. -Those subdivisions grew up ar_‘oun_d a core comanunitfﬂoﬁ?%ﬁab}ﬁ-%m?ﬁ?es
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that was already established on Atlanta and Latimer streets south of Warren Avenue,

at the turn of the century. There is;evidenaé fhat a black farming community

preceeded it in the area. T ' : ' ﬁ

Although the three communities share commoa elements of early-suburban
develcopment they had un1que histories that contr1bute to thelr present status and
appearance. The eastern half of East Dallasr where the project area lies,
originally consisted of_the country estates aad p;antariOn lands of wealthy
bankers, railroad magnates,rand rapchers; The extension of streetcar lines from -
Dallas to the town led to a real estate boom in the 1870s and 1880s that resulted
in the bhreakup of the old estates and‘their piecemeal redevelopment throughout the

20tﬁ century. Colonial Hill was. developed about the same time as the East Dallas

3rea1 estate boom but it was a natural extension of an established suburb just south

of the buszness district rather than a separate entity like East Dallas.-.
Prosperous Jewish merchants re51d1ng in The Cedars moved south to Colonial Hill in
the wake of commercial and sub-standard residential encroachment into their once-~
exclusive neighhorhood. To the east of the original-Colohial'Hill developrent, at
its northern extensions, were built the more modest homes of clerical and
managerial families, many of -whom worked for the merchants and factory owners.
South Dallas, south of the Central city below Varren Avenue and to the west of the
Fairgrounds, is adjacent to Colon1a1 Hill and east of Central Expressway. During
the  1910s. 1920s and'lBBOs, subdivisions were built in the area exclusively for
black families. .The documentation'and prpmqtiaial materials relating to these
developments makes South Dailas a particuiarly ihtriguing project area within.the

suburban development context.

This submission first examines the early historv of Dallas and its phenomenal

growth afrer the arrival of the railroads as a orelude to its suburban expansion. .-
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INTRODUCTION

The Dallas'heighhorhoods surveyed in this pfojecf can all bEjviSﬁeﬁ“as
manifestations of.Dallas _early suburhanlzatlon due to the1r phyﬁicaI ‘patarush &Rip :
to the central bu51ness district. thelr early res1dent1a1 character, thélr
establishment along streetcar lmnes and the nromotlonal techniqued emﬁleyeai"hy
their develqpers. Bevond these similarities the ne:.ghborhoods dlvercre 1ntb tlifea
disti'ncl;ly different areas of study. For the purposee ‘of t‘th—:Ls nommatmn,- “aftwé1l

as future planning efforts, ilt'may be most useful to consider them first as

e

extensions of Dallas' emergence as a major transportation and distributiof“éaffer

and then separately as the unigue communities of East Dallas, ColoniEl_ﬁflI}“énd

South Dallas.

East Dallas is the historic name of a separate mun1c1pa11ty that developed two

miles east of the Dallas courthouse.’ : :.fM:LllKWéeK’ﬁﬁas‘

integral part of East Dallas. Mill Creek is;a’ recent'“anpeli'atlon mth né“l?:f:‘é"&"dnc
precedent. The creek 1tse1f runs to the we.:t of the pf‘{mect area. anﬁ* h-a&li“f@ﬂe

impact on its development. . Colonial 11111 :lu.'-the name traditlﬁ&ﬁ'ﬁlz}f?ﬁec@ -to

describe several South Dallas’ addltlons east of Cen’cral Expressﬁhv:fﬁat ‘%fere

subdivided in the 1880s and early 18905. The nortlon o+ Colonlalﬂﬁllf“WHEch%fres

" in the survey area 15 cons:.dered .part of Scuth Dallas today hﬁt hléﬂqﬂ%ﬁl’l?*l@‘ﬁas

had an identity very senarate from the trad1t1onall§ blaek commum.‘t\? td%é@ﬁ’ﬁ’ch

and east of it. . In th1s nommatlon South Dallas refers inv Lto t;htfse %ﬁuﬁfx“’es

south of Warrsn Avenue that were plattad ‘and developéd-,._“f§x~e1_‘ueiﬁfeﬂ.y—‘;ﬁpr?ﬁ?gfck

- : s 1] 4 i . . £ g ns be gl ";w.'-t
families. -Those subdivisions grew up zround z core communityof Hiachdkmilies
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that was already established on Atlanta and Latimer streets south of Warren Avenue,

at the turn of the century. There is evidence that a black farming community

preceeded it in the area. B ' : : ﬁ

Although the three communities share common elements of early suburban

. development they had un1que histories that contrlbute to the1r present status and

appearance. The eastern half of East Dellas, where the project area lies,
originally consisted of the country estates eud p;antaribn 1ands of wealthy
bankers, railroad magnates,-end rauchers; The extension of streetcar lines from
Dallas to the town led to a real estate boom in the 1870s and 1880s that resulted
in the breakup of the old estates andrtheir piecemeal redevelopment throughout the

20th century. Colonial Hill was. developed about the same time as the East Dallas

Zreel estate boom but it was a natural extension of an established suburb just south

of the business district rather than a separate entity like East Dallas.-.
Prosperous Jewish merchants residing iu The Cedars, moved south to Colonial Hill in
the wake of commercial and sub-standard residenrial encroachment into their once-
exclusive neighborhoed. To the east of the original-Colohial'Hill development, at
its northern extensions, were built the more modest homes of clerical and
managerial families, meny of -whom worked for the merchants and factory owners,
South Dallas, south of the central city below Harren Avenue and to the west of the
Fairgrounds, is adjacent to Colonlal Hill and east of Central Expressway. During
the . 1910s. 1920s and'19305 subd1v151ons were built in the area excluszvelv for
black families. The documentat1on ‘and promotlcnal materlals relatlna to these
developments makes South Dallas a nartlcularly 1ntr1gu1ng nroJect area within the

suburban development context.

This suhm1551on first examines the early history of Dallas and its phenomenal

growth afrer the arr1va1 of the railroads as =z urelude to its suburban ernans1on.-'
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Next, Dallas’' suburban development is outlined with particular attention to the

-

role of streetcar companies in dgté}mining the direction and extent of that growth.

-,

Finally, the three individual project areas are explored separately to better
define their special characteristics and determine their contributions to Dallas’

architectural and cultural heritage.

- Introduction to Dallas

Nothing in DPallas’ early history foretold of its pre-eminence among Texan
cities thirty years after its founding in 1841. Wresting the county seat away from.
Hord's Ridge {present day Oak Cliff) in an 1850 election brought a degree of

regional commercial and volitical prominence to Dallas, but until the railroad

connacted it to eastern markets it proved of little practical benefit. It was the

arrival of the Houston & Texas Central (H&TC) Railroad in 1872, and its '
intersection with the Texas and Pacific (T&P) a yéar later, that ushered in an era

of growth that would make Dallas the ﬁremiere_merchant city of the Southwest.

On the heels of the railroads, in fact in anticipation of their arrival,
street railroads were built to fécilitat? movement of goods from the terminals to
the business houses that began to spring up in the ensuing éommercial boom. It
became immediately apparent that stréetcaré woﬁld also be a boon to reéidential
real estate ventures. The flurry of builéing activify in dowutown Dallas following
the arrival of the faiiroads ﬁadg_it 1 congestéd; ﬁbisy place in_whiéh to 1i§e but
street railroads enabied people to live more fﬁan a few blocks away from their work
and enjo? the benefits of suburban iife - a revolutiﬁnar§'conce§t that cbaégéﬁ the
wiy American cities would develop. f2cause Dalias had grown very little from its

Trinity River site by the time streetcars arrived, the new technologvy largely

determined the direction of the city‘é growth.
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The suburban development of Colonial Hills, East Dallas and South Dallas, was

~

made possible by the net;grk of stree;car_lines that allowed people to live farther
AN . .

and farther away from the central city and their places of work. The force behind
the success of these subufbs lay in the union of real estaterdevelopers with street
railway promoters, who frequently were partners in each others' enterprises. A |
typical collaboratibn involved the purchase and subdivigion ﬁf inexpensive land far
from the center of town, followed by.the establishﬁent:of a park or other
attraction, and the constfuction:of a étreetéar liﬁé to bring prospéctife buyers to
thg new subdivision. Though there are differences between the three areas in

growth and development dynamics and in housing types and demographics, they each

owe their existence to the street railroads.

Early History

John Neely Bryan initiglly came to Three Forks, a natural ford on the
Trinity River, in 1839_t§'estab1ish an.Indian trading post at the cfossroads of two
méjor Indian tfaces {Switzer, 1954: 8). After a brief trip to Arkansas, he
returned to his campsite on the Trinity in 1841 to find his plans ruined by two
events: the defeat and evacuation of Caddo Indian encampments near Three Forks and
the granting of a charter for Peters Colony Compan& for control‘of 16,000 acres of
Teian land inéluding Brygn‘s-claim, making him a virtual squatter on the land he'd

staked out. Although his hecpes to establish an Indian trading post were

‘permanently dashed, Bryan shccessfgllf retained bhis claim to a strip of land:

fronting the Trinity River znd he promptly set about subdividing and promoting it
as a town. TIn fact, Peters Colony Company included the townsite in maps promoting

their colony {McDonald, 1878. 8-9:i.
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The original townsite was platted by Bryan's surveyor in 1846 along a regular

grid pattern. As the city developed, however, that pattern shifted to accommodate

=

other claims, creeks and land forms, giving Dallas an irregular set of streets

_whose names were apt to change whenever the street jbgged in a new directioen. It

was guite unlike the ideal midwestern design Bryan sought to emulate. The 1855

boundaries were Water and Murphy streéts, Calhoun and Columbia (noﬁ Young)'streets,

‘running about eleven blocks fronting the river and about eight blocks deep from the

river {McDonald, 1978: 6, c. 1855 plat map).

By its incorporation in 1856, Dallas had a population of ;bout 350 people,
most of ‘vhom were farmers {McDonald, 1978:_107. In fact, most of the 5,743 |
inhabitants of Dallas Couﬁty in the 1850s were farmers living outside the
poundaries_of the town (Powers, 1969: 3). The earliest buildings, including the
courthousé around which the others were clustered, were ﬁade of logs. Early
settlers, lured by Peters Colony Cogpany promotions were unnerved to find the townf
somewhat less grand than eclaimed. John Billingsly.who had come to seétle with his:
family in 1844 wrote in his journal, "Fe spon reached the place we had heard of so
often: but the town, where was it? Two small log cabins--this was the town of
Dallas, and two families of 10 or 12 souls was its pnpulafion" (HeDonalq, 1978: 9).
It wouldn't bhe th; last time Fhat real estate developers madg inflated claims for |
their develqpments. By 1870 the population of ﬁhe town 'had increased somewhat from
about 600 inhabitants in 1860 tolan_eétimated 1,500 ten years 1gter (Keith, 1930:
172). |

Dallas was little more thﬁn an agricultu£31 oufpoét on the Trinity Ri;er in
1860. put what there wasz of it burned down on a ﬁot Jﬁly mprniné_on the eve 6f the -
Civil War. The fire. most li#ely an accident. spreéd quickly-through the poorly

constructed wool-frame buildings,‘destroying most of the town within hours. With
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little to convict them but hearsay evidence, thrée black men were charged with

-ﬁconspiracy by a vigilante jury and hupg for the deed (Lewis, 1892: 177). With this

exception, Dallas was not directly affected By the war and with Reconstrﬁction,

Dallas, too, began teo build anew.

1865-1893 Post Civil War Growth and Development

Although some construction must have taken place immediatgly after the 1860
fire, concentrated efforts to re-build the town were made'only after the end of the
Civil War. The fire had literally wiped the slate clean for the consfruction of a
more substantial city than-the primitive one that preceded it. -Citizens and new

arrivals alike began to envision building a great commercial center upon the ruins

" of the pionesr farming village. While most Dallas business had been auxiliary to

1agricu1ture prior to the war, the town was becoming increasingly centered on the
processing of crops and associated businesses. Accordinglﬁ, as the thﬁ rebuilt,
more substantial commercial buildings were constructed,.reflecting this fpcus.
Sometime dﬁring Reconstruction, two itinerant architect/builders; T. B. Borst and
John Ryan, arrived in Dallas andAbegan erecting the start of what woula bhecone
hundreds of 2-story Italianate commercial buildings in the downtown area between

1860-1890 (McDonald, 1978: 17).

Dallas grew steadily aftér the war with an iﬁflux pf immigranfs, white and
b ack. primarily from the Southern states. Haﬁy Squfhernefs whose:héﬁes_and ways
'of life had been destroyed during the war wanted a fresﬁ start. They nhiled'signs
on their hone pléces that read "Gone to Texas" and set out to build ﬁéw hdmes on
tha Prairis. Freedmanﬁowns, enclaves of Qafe;? and.sﬁlace for ex~slaves, sprang up
at ﬁhe periphefy_of Déllas' white communities énd had é'lastihg effect oﬁ the

g-owth and dsvelopment of the city. In the aftermaﬁh of the war, thousands of

-t~
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people flooded into North Texas, and Dallas began to reflect that immigration in a
post-war building surge. The following excerpt from an 1871 letter, written by
Henry Coit to his cousin, presages the wild land speculation to come in the
following decades:
"Dallas is improving very fast. The cernsus gave us over 2,700
inhabitants to the corporation. People anticipate its becoming another
Atlanta and fortunes have heen made in buying town property” {McDonald,
1978: 18). [note: Ruby Keith and others show the 1870 census at "1,500

est.” but Lewis recorded the 1870 census as low as 800 {(Keith, 1930: 168:
Lewis, 1892: 275). All figures given before the 1880 must be considered

estimates].
The influx of these eager nevw citizens to the Dallas area and the ensuing building
hoom led some to envision a greater future for the prairie town than previously

imagined. The railroads, shaking their way westward, linked the towns in their

paths to Northern and Eastern trading and manﬁfacturing centers, rapidly

“transforming many of the former hamlets to urban trading centers. Dallas' more

astute cifizens, including William H. Gaston, set about ensuring that the railroads
ran through Dallas. They planned for their own fortunes, as’ well, by buying up

huge tracts of land in anticipation of successful negotiations.

The Arrival of the Railroads

The importance of a rail connection between the isolated north Texas town of

Dallas and the rest of the country was not lost on its entrepreneurial citizens.

. In 1871, it was discovered that the Houston and'Texﬁs Central,RailwayA(H&TC}.

planned to run its line eight miles east of the county courthouse leaving a hﬁge
gap between the.town and the'trabks. Businessmen led by Captain william H. Gaston
sought to entica the railroad nedrer. Gaston himself_dona%ed §5,000 and right-of-

wav through his propeftyfto brina the road cléser {McDonald, 1978: 19).



Six months later, Ga#ton learned tﬁat the Texas and Pacific Railroad (T&P)
tracks, following the 32nd parallel, would byﬁass Dallas by 50 miles to the south.
Once again Gaston and his associates engineered the city's fate by attaﬁhing a
rider to a legislative bill requiring the tracks_tﬁ pass within one mile_of Browder
Springs (in present daf 01d City Pafk). The rider passed without comment and when
the railrcad company realized they'd béen duped, Dallasites assvaged the wound with
cash incentives and rights-of-way. Gaston himself donated 142 acres through his
East Dallas property as well as ten acres fér a depot at the intersection of the
H&TC and T&P tracks (Central Expréﬁsway at Pacific Avenue) (Saxon, 1983: 9-10).
When the T&P crossed the H&Tc.lines early in 1873, Dallas became the first rail
crossroads in the Soufhwest and.was on its way to becoming the premiere merchant
city of.North Texas. An editorial in the Dallas Herald of‘April 8, 1871
proclaimed:

The continued growth of Dailés is now assured, and from this season

forward it will be more rapid than ever before. Now that the owners of
real estate have wisely consented to pay a tax . . . for the purpose of

securing a depot for the Houston and Texas Central Railroad . . . Let our.

capitalists go to work at once building and preparing in every way for a
large influx of newcomers {(Stark, 1935: 181).

This they did with relish.

MeDonald in Dallas Rediscovered desprihed William Gaston as a "banker,

financier, and empire builder" {McDonald, 1978: 133). Gaston had come to Dallas in

1867 after the Civil War in which he sérved_the Confederacy as captain. He and his
partﬁer. Aaron Camp. established Dallas' first bank, Gaston and Camp, vhich later
bacame First National Bank. They began purchasiné real estate in both project
areas of South and East Dallaé.. On his 400-acre “pléntation that becamé the town
of East Dallas"® {McDonald, 1978: 133), Gaston dgsignedrand built a massive Greek
Rerival mansien at the'northeast corner o:.sﬁiss nvenge'an& St. Joseph Street
{demolished 1927} which served as headguarters of ﬁis operations.- He owned another

343 acres in South Dallas in addition to his East Dallas holdings (Gaston. n.d.).

-8-



By engineering the intersection of the two railroads where he did, Gaston ensured

the future of Dallas, as welllas his own.

On the eve of the boom ih 1871, Dallas was a towﬁ of three banks, two cotton
gins, a fipur mill, a good number of saloons and the distinction of being the world
center of the leather and buffalo hide trade (McDonald, 1878: 18). The principal

streets, Elm, Commerce and Main extended only thfee—eighths of a mile east of the

‘courthouse. With the exception of some homes built two miles southeast of that

ﬁoint, most éf.the buiidings were closeiy scattered around it kPowers,'1969: 5).
The advent of the railroa@ would EhangéAall that pérmanently. Within ihe year,
Dallas was'trénsformed into a bustling commercial cgntér. Cotton-buyers rushed tol
open offices in Dallas, bringing witﬁ them tﬁe.first telegraph conﬁecting them to

the world market quotations. The result was the establishment of the Dallas Cotton

Exchange (Head, n.d., Box 4J58). Business was booming and the phpulation exploded

from about 2,500 to over 7,000 in a less'th%n six months (McDonald, 1978: 19).

The railroad also brought the so-dalle& "terminal® merchantsllike Alexander
Sanger who had been following the H&TC Railroad from town to town as it progressed,
frying to predict where the road would finally terminate. These merchants
established stores in towgé such as Hiiican:and Corsicana, movi@g each time the
railroad extended its lines to the next locale. When they realized that the H&TC
%as going on to Dallas they moved once again and in é gingle day bought 70 lots on
Eim Streét betweenrJefferson and Akard streets {Keith,_1930: 136). ﬁany‘thought
the terminal merchants would estabiish their;bqsinesses neér-tﬁe ﬁepot, thus

ensuring rapid develovment of that site. but surprisingly, they chose to remain

close to the county courthouse in Dallas “proper.” Nevertheless. others did settle

near the depot and a secondary center of population evolved in East Dallas.



The importance of th? railroads to Dallas' tremendous growth cannot be
overemphasized. They brought not only'merchants but others who sought their
fortunes in the boomtown, as well. Builders and construction crews arrived by the

hundreds to provide housing and offices for the multitudes. By 1873, Dallas had ’

"three large'steam-powered flouring mills, a sash and door facfory, more than a

$

dozern lumber yarﬁs, and a magnificent fairgrounds. In that yeér alone, following
the intersection of thé B&TC and T&P tracks,'SD large 2- or 3-story brick buildings

with iron Fronts. and 725 other bu11d1ngs 1pc1ud1ng houses were constructed in the

,c1ty. The value of the new hulldlngs was calculated at $1,377, 500 00. This .

represented an increase of_l{OOD% in a 12-month period (Keith, 1930: 136-137). The.
junction of the T&P and H&TC railroadé rade Dallas a vholesale center for all of.
North Texas. taklng much of the trade from Jefferson. more than 200 miles away.

Vagon trade to Jefferson decreased, causing a 70% dron in its populatlon between

~1872 and 1874 (Keith. 1930: 138). Dﬁlias' population grew accordingly.

Mills had been established aiong Mill Creek, which flowed to the sovth and
east of thé town, earlier in DPallas’ history but the arrival of the railroads,

which gunarantead product transportafion'to outside markets, spurred the growth of

'otherrmanufacturing and industrial plants in the 1870s and 1880s. Plants sprang up

in areas where there were natural power soufces, along the Trinity River to the
west of the City and along Mill Creek, and where manufacturéré had easy access to

railroad loading docks. The river and creek bottoms, subject to frequent flooding,

were not favored residential areas and so became prime sites for factories and low-

cost, rental housing for cheap labér. Althﬁugh the railrﬁads ﬁeheréted-cbmmercial

and industrial development along éheir rﬁutes wherévgr they ran in the Dallas afaa,
the pqint vhere thaw ran close to ghé Trig:éﬁ River at the extrame wést of the city
became the focal pdinflof industrial'defeldpméﬁt, ‘The_aégompanfing worker's

chantiss znd shotgun houses alongside the factories and railroad vards made the
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area Dallas' poorest region from this time through the 19305‘(Daiias City Guide.

1940: WPA box 4J57).

The railroad lines not only drew thousands of people to the area they also
determined growth patterns to a great extent. Ross Avenue had been an established

exclusive residential area prior to the arrival of the railroads but the T&F tracks

“cut off the area from the rest of the city, atrophying growth in North Dallas for a

tine fDéllas‘City Guide, 1940: WPR box 4J57). 1In other areas, the railroads

stimulated growth. The second hub of population which developed more than a mile
east of the Dallas courthouse at the H&TC railroad depot, eventually incorporated

as the town of East Dallas in 1882. Undoubtedly, the most important spur to the

~growth of East Dallas was the arrival of the railroads. whose intersedtions "drew

the entire city eastward, awaf from the'river, . - . lestablishing] the primary

focus for an alternate city, which began to grow in the otherwise vacant area"

{McDonald, 1978: 135).

"fully eighty percent of the population diffused itself in a narrow band
between these two poles [the Pallas courthouse and the H&TC railroad
depot] almost in the shape of a bell; the flange ran along the river with
its two short, lateral extensions into Frogtown and Boggy Bayou, and the
two sides were bounded by the tracks of the T&P on the north and the HETC
switching yard {(Marilla Street) on the south. The large-scale population
shift north and south was not well established until the 1880s, leaving
most of the population to congregate either around the courthouse or the
East Dallas Depot (McDonald, 1878: 61}.

2 great deal of planning went into bringing the railroaﬁs_tb Dallas and
through Gaston's properties in South and East Dallas, but the development that grew
‘ ' ' o ' . .
around the tracks seemed rather arbitrary. There was little civic planning

involvad and growth was a_haphaza:d. if booming, affair. McDonald. describirg the

BOs. commented that urban pianning was more than

o

Zzvout of the city in the 2

"Irsewheeling” and that a "definite attirude of laissez-faire prevailsd in terzs of

=11~
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building codes. street design, regulation of housing dévelopment, or any sort of
municipal planning™ {McDonald, 1978: 59). The principal determining factorwin the

location of a new addition was its access to transportation. The introduction of ﬁ

the street railway system in 1873 and the subsequent partnerships between railway

owners and real estate developers played the greatest part in directing Dallas'

growth until the advent of the automodile.

The First Streetcars

In the heady dayé followiné the arrival of the railroads, it became

immediately apparent that there were fortunes to be made in real estate.

“Developers began acquiring large parcels of land outside the corporate limits for

~subdivision and in the first six months of 1874, 600 homes were built (Powers,

1969: 18). The developers anticipated building street railroads to provide access
to the far éistant additiens. Prior td the advent'of the streetcar, people had
typically lived within a few blocks of their work.{Gocden, 1986: 15). The fact
that Dallas had not expanded more than half a mile from its courthouse pricr to the
arrival .of the railrocad and ensuing real estate hoom allowed the streetcar to shape
its growth. McDonald wrote, "the streetcar was unguestionably the most influential
factor in theigrawth of the suburbs, and the traffic patterns it established help
te expléin why certain aréas developed while neighboring ones did not" (McDonzld,
1978: 87). Mot uncoincideqtally. Dallas’ ea;liest organized suburbaﬁ housing
developments,-including those in the project areas of Colonial Hill,'adjacen: South

Dallas and ¥ill Creek in Eést Dallas, were designed along streetcar lines.

w

allas was a fledgling city when its firet streetcar systems were designed znd

instaliled, Unlike ths older. congested Eastern Seaboard cities of New York and

Bosten. Dallas' streetcar systems were net built in response to the problems :-ts

~12-
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residents faced living in an intensely developed. crowded and\pnheaithy inner city,
althouéh there are reﬁorts of noise and ccﬂfusibn in the eérly-;ays of the post-
railroad building boom. Rather,ri; appears that Dal;as e;trepreneurs incorporated
the new technology to stimulate growth in those areas where thgy either owned land
or had an investment interest. It was always at the insfigation of land .
épeculatars and independent stfeet railroad developers‘thatfnew stéeetcar companies .
and lines, in their formative and most influéptial_yéars, were introduced; Dallas
city coﬁmissioners,invériahiy followed the lead of their entreﬁréneurial citizens,
thankful for the municipal benefits fhat occurred as a by-product of their
enterprise. Both Diane Powers and Carolyn Gooden who conducted extensive research
into Dallas' early streetcar dé&elopment concur with city planner George Kessler's

assessment that Dallas' residential growth, "Instead of having_heen planned, - e .

fwas] directed by the land speculator . . . (Wilson, 1989: 261), vho often owned or

.bontrolleﬁ and frequently used the streetcars, not for civic improvement, but for

‘personal financial gain.

The first streetcar line was constructed in anticipation of the railroad and

- the growth it promised to bring. Nine busiressmen, including William Gaston,

chartered the first mule-drawn line in 1871 to carry goo&s and passengers from the
courthouse, along Main Street, to the H&TC Depot, east of tbwn (Powers, 1969: iv).
In 1875, W. J. Keller took control of the streetcar.operation and added a second-
line. the Da}las Stréet Railroad Company, which ran alohg San Jacinto Street, not
coincidentally. to a parcel of farm land hg owned in Eaét Dallas. 1In the following
vear Keller's brother, Dr. C. E. Kellet,.charteréd the Cdmme;ce and Ervay Sfreet
Rail#ay to promote his real estéte venture in Southrnallas; 'By 1887._theég'three
streetrcar lines and 2 fourtﬁ, the Belt Line, merged-to pecome -the Dallas
Cénsclidéted Street Railway fo#pany fPo#ers.hlgéQ: 56). all fﬁurllines terninated

at the courthouss.
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Rlthough the Consol1dated had a virtual ggnopoly -on street rail transportation
in Dallas' central bu51ness dlsfrlct, several other étreetcar lines were
subseguently established on the periphery of town to draw prospective buyers to new
real estate developments. The network of cutlying and central business district

lines enabled Dallas to spread over a broad expanse of field and forest. McDonald

notes the importance of the streetcar lines in determining suburban developrent:

As Dallas' real estate boom of the late 1880s and early 1890s
progressed, all of . . . Dallas prospered. The most important factor in
this success was the proliferation of streetcar lines during the period.
The areas that received transit service were, of course, almost
invariably the areas with the largest subsequent growth, and the decision
as to where the lines would run very often was made by 2 land developer
who either owned the streetcar company himself, or influenced its policy
through a deft donation of land to the right people chDonald 1978:

147).

Powers concurs.

- The directions in whick the lines raﬁ were determined by the companies'
owners and directors, who built the street railroads to serve their
property and business interests in both the downtown sections and outer
territoryv (Powers, 1969, iv).

Eventually, the streetcars would help convert all of downtown Dallas to
commercial use by alliowing {and encouraging) éommuters to leave the city for
residential suburbs in East and South Da]llas. Streetcar entfepreneurs had more
influence over where people would live and work than any déverning body. There
were no zoning restrictions in Dallas until 1927 and the city, far'froﬁ regulating
or restricting the streetcars. welcomed.the increased mobility, ifs concomitant
develépmént. and the amenities,isuch as iakes‘agd parks. proyided hg the
streetcar/real estate promoters which bécﬁme perhanent municipal fixtures (Goodeﬁ,
1986: vi}. One suburb..bak'C1iff; boasted arbeautifully landscaped park (now the
¥arsziiz Park aﬁd Zoo} w1tn a lake. dance na'1110n and summer cnera house - 211

accessikls by the strestcar Iina built_by its developer. T. L. Marsalis (Clark.

[{}}

192%: graft page 10}. In f=ct street railroads themselves became a popular wav to
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promdte real estate in the late 1870s througﬁ the early 1890s evident in the

successful promotion of Dallas' first: "streetcar suburb”; The Cedars, just south of

-

the downtown area and to -the immediate north of the Colonial Hill and South Dallas
project areas. The promotion and resulting success of The Cedars established a

pattern for subsequent suburban develépment.

First Streetcaf SuburB — The Cedars

In 1876, three years after the H&TC ra1lroad 11ne 1ntersected with the T&P,
the first partnership was made between a local streetcar ovner and a land
speculator. John J. Eakins wished to develop the parcel of land south of the

developed downtown area, known as The Cedars for its gkpanse of Red Cedar forest.

‘He negotiated an agreemént to sell the City of Dallas its first park in exchange

for a tax exemption on The Cedars. Concurrently, Eakins struck a deal with Dr. C.
D. Keller, ownér of- the Commerce and Ervay Street Railway Company, to extend the
streetcar line down to The Cedars so that prospective buyers could be trahqurted

to the development with sase (McDonald, 1978:104)7 Keller and his associates also

owned land in the vicinity and stood to profit from the arrangement.. The promoters

then built a lavish park at Browder Springs, now City Park, whose lovely lagoon and
concert pavilions served as_aﬁ induceﬁent to bring Dallasites to the area on their
Sunday outings (Powers, 1969: 36). It Was a’ winning combination ﬁnd~iand values in
South Dallas “escalated in direct response té the streetcar line and park., and the
gremepdous hoom in real estaté priceé.was-é léusoﬁ to 1§tef speculators, inﬁestors.
and developers all over the éity“'(HﬁDonalﬂ, i978,'104).- The Cedars, Dallas’ first

streetcar suburbk. had set a precedent that was to be copied many times @vef.

The first houses were modest. wood frame Victorian cottages. similar to those

shown in Downing’'s Cottqgg Res*dences nattcrn hook. Within a few vears.howevar.

-15-
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The Cedars became an exclusi;e, "silk stocking" district, housing some of Dallas’
most prominent merchants (Gooden,‘Igéf: 17). Gooden postulates that The Cedars'
popularity was a result of the convenisnce and prestigé of having one of the city's
few streetcar lines. Because nany of Thé Cedars' residents were Jewish merchant
families who had emlgrated from Germany and Ru551a, the affluent rasidential -
neighborhood hecame knovn as a Jewish enclave {McDonald, 1978: 108). _A}ex-Sanger;
one of the most important of the “terminal merchants“,.ﬁnd president of Sanger
Brothers Dry Goods and Departmenf Store, builf an_elabqrate‘ﬁgnsioﬁ at §. Ervay and
Canton streets in 1&82 {razeq 19257 (McDonald, 1978: 107). Sanger was also
instrumental in the establishment of the Dallaé Cotton and Woolen Hills {at South

Lamar and Corinth}), a concern that would figure heavily in the development of

neighborhoods further south. Philip Sanger, not to be outdone by his brother,

-built an enormous mansion on’'$. Ervay at St. Louis Street, for the staggering

amount of §15,000 iﬁ 1885 (razed 1953) {(McDonald, 1978: 108). Many other residents
of The Cedars were also among Dallas® mercantile and industrial elite and their
heavily ornamented Victorian-era mansions reflected their financial and social

standings.

The Cedars was a protected enclavg,;separated from the downtown commercial
center as well as.from the mills and factories along the'Triﬁity Rivef and the MK&T
Railroad to the west by a "buffer zone" of workers' cottages. Within a decade,
however, the factorles and workers houses began n1bb11ng at the edges of The
Cedars. -In 1283, when two new streetcsr lines p;ssed through the area opening all

of South Dallas to development, it destroyed the éxclusivitf of The Cedars in the

'process (HcDonald,;1978: 123). By the turn of the century, thé.popularity of the

" neighborhood had waned and its mansions. built in the flamboyant styles of the late

Victorian era. were considarad gaudv and old-fashioned when compared to the Prairie

School-influenced houses being built 11 newer subdivisions. By the 1920s, xany of

~-16—-
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the The Cedars' fine homes were destroyed and the area nearly abandoned. Its

-~ -
-

residents moved south to Colonial Hills or the developing Edgewood Addition (South

=,

Boulevard/Park Row) or the restricted nelghborhoods of Hunger Place and Highland
Park in North and East Dallas (Gooden, 1986 51). Nothlng remains of The Cedars

today except City Park.

The Cedars set another precedent and established a pattern even in‘its

deterioration. While the initiation of the streetcar nreeeeded and encouraged the

'develonment of residential nelghborhoods. as those nelghborhoods matured, the

blocks closest to the streetcar lines converted to commercial uses (Gooden, 1986:
67-69) .- Such usage, coupled with increased ihduetrialization and -the attendant

proliferation'of workers® housing. pressured the residents to abandon The Cedars.

This pattern, a result of unrestricted and unplanned development, was repeated with

slight variations in other Dallas neighborhoods including the East Dallas and

Colonial Hills project areas.

-17-
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Colonial Hill_.

L

As Dallas’ population surged from 10.358 in 1880 to 38,067 in 1890, (Keith,

" 1930: 168), speculators began furiously subdividing any.available parcels of land

in South Dallas, including those previously considered unéuitable_for'residential

de?elopment because of their proximity to the Trinity River in the boggy 1oy1ands.
fo the west and north of this-project area, eariy cottpn and'flpur mills had
already established an industrial core albng Mill Creek and ‘the arrival of the Rock
Island Railroad in its vicinity attracted other industrial plants {Gooden, 1986:
31). Tt was there, between the river and the railroad tracks that criss-crossed

the soufherp region, that most of the post-Civil War industries were established

- and in large part it was those industries that attracted the new arrivals. The

~number of real estate transfers filed in Dallas_increased tremendously from less

than 300 in 1880, to 5,784 in 1887 (McDonald, 1§78: 118) and much of this reflected
activity in South and East Dallas. It was at the heigh; of this real estate boom
that speculators, hﬁnking on increased industrialization and the extens{on of
streetcar lines into the area, opened thé Colonial Hill (Chestnuf.ﬂill) additions
in far South Dallas. Chestnut Hill, ﬁ. M. XKahn's Addition, the Lenway and Meyer
Addition, and South Park were all opened hetween 1887 and.1891,'forming the core of

the Colonial Hill project area fDallaé County Plat Booksl.

Also adjoinirg the Colonial Hill development were the Cotton Mills and
Exposition Park acditions, located between City Park and Pennsylvania Avenue and
developed primarily for lower- to middle- and'working~élass renters ﬁho either

worked in the mills or held lower-level clerical positions with the manufacturing

 companias. The homes were generally 1- or 1 1/2- story frame houses without indoor

pluzbing (McDonald. 1973: 118; Dalias Sanborn Hapé. 1905: wol. 2). As Powers has

bl

stated. "the geog:aphy of the région-and its industrial development preﬁluded
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exnensive homes" (Powers, 1969: 71}. It was well suited however, to the
constructlon of hundreds of small, wood-frame cottages that housed workers for

industries like the Trinity Cotton 0il Company, the Dallas Union Stockyards, and

the Armstrong Packing Company that located along the railroads flanking both sides

“of South Dallas (McDonald, 1978: 123). When the Dallas Cotton and Woolen Mills

opened in 1888, it initially employed 750 workers {Powers, 1969: 72) - all of whom
required housing. ¥ill oféanizers, including vice-president, Alex Sanger,

collaborated with real estate developers to build workers' eottages in the new

-additions. This increased the perception of South Dallas as a predominantly

working-class area.

The advent of the steam-powered street railway led directly to the creation of

.these industrial suburbs. In 1888, the same vear the mill.and Colonial Hill

additions were opened, Luther Rees and Alex Sanger helped charter the Dallas Rapid

Transit Company, a steam-powered excursion line that went south on Lamar from the
courthouse then eastward on Forest Avenue {then an unnamed street through empty

S
fields - See Murphy and Bolanz Official Maps of Dallas, 1887 and 1889] to the

fairgrounds. It was Rees, Edward Holmes and L. R. Wright, who incorpofated the

'Dallas Iavestment Company and opened the Colonial Hills Addition that same year

(Powers. 1969: 70). The_circuitous route of his streetcar line accomplished two

gnals for Reese it brought potential buyers past his addition, which had been in a

virtual wilderness, and it assured them of transnortatlon to the city and work once

they buiit in the new addition {Powars, 1969 71). Sanger s connections with Rees
in the streetcar venture assured him of both hous1ng and transportation for his

mill workers. The connection between streetcar lines and real estate development

was not cverlcoked by thé pubiie, either. Thevlimﬂg:geralq'editoriel of'Julf 17.
1888. stz=ted that cheaper homes were needed in the city.and that the Dallas Rapid

Transit Zompany might be able to provide them. As soon as the streetcar line was
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installed, Rees began advertising in the newspapers for homes on "easy terms" with

small cash payments and one- to five-year mortgages. Pictures of the cottages

resembled those offered to workers in other areas of the country (Powers, 1969:

72). VWhen the Dallas Consolidated Street Railway Company met Rees's competition by

extending its own lines down Akard, Ervay and Harwood streets and east along
Hickory, all of South Dallés_was_opened up for such development (McDonald, 1978:

123).

Not all of the housing in the Colonial Hill additions was designed for mill

bands. however. While Powers, Gooden, and McDonald agree that much of the area

'housiné'was sub-standard rental property, there wvere zones of higher quality

residential construction especially along Forest Avenue from Akard to the H&TC

A.railroad tracks and on Holmes. from Forest south to Peabody {(Sanborn maps.1905,

1922). A photograph of a Forest Avenue streetscape c. 1900 reproduced in Dallas
Rediscovered, reveals a row of large, 2-story re51dences extendlng from 5. Ervay
Street westward. McDonald's cavtion described the street in the Colonial Hill
Addition as "a fine neighborhood containing many large Neo-Colonial residences"”
{McDonald, 1878: 125). Thomas Scollard, owner of the Scollard and Jennie buildings
in downtown Dallas, built one such house in 1890 (razed 1927) (McDonald, 1978:
122). &s more neighbo;hoods developed to the south, schools and churches were

built nearby.

Building came'tb an abrupt hait.as‘the“"panic of 1893 and the éuﬁéequent
economic depression swept much_of the nation and Dallas with it. Speculators
throughout the city had 6verbui1t and the ensuing crash curtailgd further large-
scale atvelonment tnrouuhout the city for almost a decade. thie rows of

comnerc1al buildings were vacatnd and houses abandoned as Dallas lost almost 5,000

residents from 1892 to 18%4 (Dallas Morning News, October 1, 1935; Géoden, 1986:

=20-
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37). Foreclosures and recombinations left only three street railways reﬁainipg in
the city at_the turn of the century ahd those were oened ty outside investors who,
chastened by the crash, were less inclined toward risky speculation. Nevertheless,
renewed efforts to conmpletely develop the éolonial Hill area.were spurred by the
extension of the Etvay streetcar line from'Grend Avenue to Forest in 1898.
Encouragee by an immediate buiiding response along.the line, the streetcar company
extended the 11ne ten blocks farther, jogging over to Colonial Avenue. Gooeen
descr1bed the relat10nsh1p between the streetcar lines and subsequent real estate

development in the area:

‘The 1899 map showed almost no development south of the Santa Fe
Railroad.- . . . The 1905 Sanborn’'s maps showed about 95 percent
development along the Ervay carline just south of Grand and over 50
percent a block away on each side. Much of the area between Grand and
Forest was less than half developed; but the property fronting on the
north side of Forest, where the Rapid Transit's South Belt ran, was two-

- thirds developed. This area clearly demonstrated that the street
railroads were still leadlnc development in the early 1900s (Gooden,

1986: 46).
It is noteworthy that the only detail maps of South Dallas below Grand Avenue in
the 1905 Sanborn collection are those depicting the Coloeial Hill additions along
the streetcar lines and one lore block, surrounded by vacant lands, straddling
Forest Avenue between Meyer and May (now Meadow) of the Rapid Transit Railway's car

barns.

The project area. bounded toughly by Ferest Avenue te the'north, Harree te the
south. Lamar on the eest and Ceetfal on the east. wes.elmost eetireiy_develoged by
1922. ‘The 1905 Sanborn maps show a:widevassortment of housing-types styles, and
lot sizes throuqhout the Colon*al Hlll section nrev1na _t to be a very mlxed
residential ne1ghborhood. Some of the 1argest aed most elegant homes in the area
appeared on Holmes Street, bet#een Forest and Peensylvehia avenues. euilt in the

early vears of the development. prior to 1905. the houses in those two long blocks
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had nmuch more cohplex configﬁrations than those on neighborinQ streets, with wrap-
around porches and multiple bay windows. The only brick house south of Forest
Avenue at that time was located on Holmes Street, and aboutlsb% of the houses had
two stories (Sanborn map, 1905). George S. Leachman, president qf fhe_Dallas Steam
Laundry gﬁd Dye Works, bhuilt his home on Holmes Street in 1901 {razed 1973). Tt
di;played “the popula; pattefn book design of a tr#néitidnal périod between older
Victorian ornamenfation_and.the emerging Praifie style%_(MéDonald,'lQ?S: 124) and
was fypical of othe?s built on tﬁat street. _. . .
Other pre-1905 dévelopmen; in the area included i2 substantial frame houses on
the north side Forest Avenue, east of Central, five of which had two stories. The .

nine frame houses on the south side of Forest were substantially:smalier and only

-one had two stories. Colonial Avenue in 1905 was already showing signs of

commercialization along tha streetc;r line. It had only two medium-sized frame
houses between Forest Avenue and Peabody Sffeet and one frame store with an
attached warehouse. From Peabédy Stréet‘to'Pennsylvania Street were five medium-
sized frame houses and from Pennsylvania to Belle (Warren) Avenue were six small
apﬂ medium-sized houses. Sﬁaller housing .was scattered throughout the section on
the east-west streets of Pgaquy, Pennsy;vania and Belle streets. The two major
non-residential features.of the neighbo&hood in 1§05 were the 2-story brick
Colonial Hill Public School, at Wendelken and Pennsylfania, and the Colonial Hill
Presbyterian Church at the corner of Forest Avenue and Wendelken S;ree£ fSanhorn'
maps, 1905). Both have been demélished. | : |

colonial Hill offers a stark contrast to the planned.-iestricte&'neighborhoods

" beine developed at the same time in Munger Place and Highland Park. in East and.

North Dallas. A study of the Sanborn maps reveals a great difference in the

housird types. lot sizes and set-backs within the area. The city directories
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reveal that mill and factory cwners lived on'streete adjacent to fhose housing
their workers {Sanborn maps, 1905:; Dallas City D1rector1es, 1901 1910, 1915,

1925). The preponderance of workers houses simply reflected the greater number of
workers than managers. The latter tended to clnster on Fcrest,knenue_and Holmes;
Street. Many of the finer hcnes were demolished in the 1920s as Forest Avenue, a

major crosstown streetcar line, became commerclalzzed.' Others became boarding

houses or were divided into rental units.

Gooden has said that the major shift in popular house sEyles in the 1%10s and
1920s as well as the introduction of the heavily restricted neighbcrhocd,
contribiited to_the_exodus of well-to-do families from Colonial Hill in South Dallas

to Munger Place and'Highland Park in East and North Dallas. The houses that were

.built in Munger Place after about 1907 were predominately Prairie School-influenced

in their design and many fashion-. and status-conscious honeowners decided to
abandon their then-outmoded Colonial.Hill nomes for new ones built in the popular
styles of the day. .The advent oé the restricted neighborhood had to be appealing
to these families who earlier fled industriai and commercial encroachment in The -
Cedars only to experience it anew in Colcnial H;ll. Prior to any zoning -

regulations in Dallas, developer-initiated building and deed restrictions was the

only kind of protection on which a homeowner could rely. Colonial Hill had no such .

protection and, after only a short period of time, fell victim to the vaéaries of
haphazard development and those who could afford to do so, moved to the planned
neighborhoods. Colonial Hill in Scuth Dallas just “had too much of what the

planned neighborhoods were built to avcidf {Gooden, 1986: 51).

There were cther addatlons cnened in the zrea aft r the 1n1t1a1 Ch:stn tHill
development.'ell rradominantly crlentec *c.work1ng~class famzlles. Follow1ng the

Coionial Street carline to its ultimate terminus just south of Hatcher Street. half
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a dozen additions opened on either side of the line between 1901 and 1910 (Dallas
County Plat Books). Sanborn maps show that the entire area west Holmes Street and
south of Peabody Street was fully developed between 1905 and 1922. All of this

portion of the project area, including any previously vacant lots in the original

Chestnut Hill dévelopment, from Forest Avenue south to Cooper Street, and from the

HETC tracks west to and including Wall Street, was completeiy filled in with small,

single-story dwellings. on nevly developeﬂ streets (since about 1905), ;he houses

formed tidy rows of identical, or reverse plan, frame bungalows and cottages, all

vith the same set-back.and front half-porches. On streets where they became
'infill' properties, especially near Holmes and Cleveland streets, they seemed like

poor coﬁsins, lacking the bays and wrap-around porches, of the oldef, more stylish

' homes (Sanborn map, 1922).

Not all of South Dalias' early working-class neighborhoods wgré.locaéed west
of the H&TC. The Tr@nk line about one and a ﬁalf niles to the easf, ran within a
few bloéks of the weétern edge of the fairgrounds located on lands donated by
William Gaston that formed a triaﬁgular-shaped section of'lgnd separating East and
South Dallas. A number of small, wood-frame homes along the tracks are showﬁ ﬁorth
of Harrén.nn the 1905 Sanborn maps. There were probably more such dwellings
trailing the line to the south but the area, igcluding the fairgrounds, was not
annexed into Dallas until aboﬁt 1965. Typiéal of construction near of on railroad

. : : - : )

rights-of-way, the housing along tpe Trunk line consisted of poo;ly—;onstructed
frame dﬁellings asd shbtgun houées fbr'reﬁtérs, many of-wﬁom were blﬁck,-who

provided cheap labor for nearby industries {McDonald, 1978: 118}. Rows of shotgun

_ houses are shown op the 1922 Sanborn maps near the Trunk line and some of the ones

surveyed may be among the earliest remaining buildings in the project area !Sanborn

maps 1805, 1922).
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The area between the two railroqd lines, south of Grand Avenue, appears @p'the
. . sy

1305 Sanborn overview map as a vast. vacant space,'with the nptaEle exception of
the Rapid Transit streetﬁarAbarns_on what wduld become Forest Avénue. As early as
1889, the Murphy and Bolanz "Official Map of Dailas"lplottéd'a series of unnamed
streéts running parallel-to Grand Avenue approximately to Warren Avenue,'between.
Colonial Hill and tﬂe féirgrbunds {Murphy ;nd Bolaﬁz,-lSBQ). lSixfeén ye#rs later,
after an era of intensive real estate develgpment in South Dallas, little had
changed. The 1905 ﬁanborn overview map of the area still fesembled an inverted "y"
with development along two strips, bne to the wégt of the H&TC tréckﬁ and therother
to the'east of the Trunk line but entirely vacant in thé center. However, the map

does show that development was certéinly anticipated. All the major streets were

idéhtified, although several have changed names since 1905, and the entire region

‘was gridded into 62 blocks with Oakland Avenue separating 39 blocks to the west

frog 23 blocks to the east. Forest Avenue, a méjor streetcar line for mﬁny years,
¥as shown.as thé central eaét-westrhdulévard dividing tﬁe northern and southern
se;tors into twé nearly equal halves. City directories confirm thaf few residents
were living on Forest. Peabody, Pennéylvania, Birmihgham or Varren {Belle in
earliest records) streets prior to about 1915 (Sanborn maps, 19Q5: City Directories

1901, 1905, 1910, 1915).

The land had not been défeloﬁed only because the owner éf the érppertg, Mrs.
Q..A- ¥arren, did not wish to be crowded. Mrs. Warren's first husband, Raron Camp,
had been William éaston's partner in his first bank and nwﬁed‘ali this South
Central territory; His widow_simply chose not tﬁ develop the land until well after
the turn of the century (Gaston, n.d4.} aithoﬁgh tﬁe;é.vés mhch pressu;é and |
iustification fﬁr,development.‘ The prominent Jewishnfamilies'who oriéinally
settled in The Cedars. had been fleeing encroachment in thét area since the 1290=.

Some had migrated to Chestnut Hill in the Colonial Hill project area but that are-,
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too, as has been'noted, hegan_to deterioraté by the 1910s. HMrs. Wargfﬁ's tract, -
just -south of The Cedars and within_dhe block of streetcar service to ;owntown
mercantile houses and industries on_the Trinity River, must have'seemed attractive ﬁ
to the merchant and industrialist families. fhg parcel bf land.above Forest
Avenue, in parficular, was a pristine, completeiy undevelopéd afea far from the
river, railroad ;facks and industriai zone;.l Namés gi?en'to tﬁe area indicate its
attractiveness. The ﬁlat wa; called foreﬁt Park when first suhmiftedlto the city
for subdivision in 1910. If was approved in 1912 as fhe Edgewood Addition with the
. streets named Park how, South Bouleﬁard and Fofest Avepﬁe (Watson, 1980: 6}. The
streets south of quest Avenue, in contrast, dréw no similar allusions to:park or
forest imagry. Forest Avenue hecame‘the'dividing line between an affluent.

predominately Jewish development to the north and a lower-level managerial,

clerical and working-class neighborhooed to the south.

Hﬁen the ¥arren prqperty~finali§ opened to.develoﬁment_in 1912, the blocks
frohting on Forest RAvenue and to the north became an exclusive enclave of wealthy
merchant families. Many of tﬁé Jewish families from The Cedars began building
homes in the northernﬁost'part of Warren tract between 1913 and 1914. When the
third Temple Emanu-el, a'Classical Revival synagogﬁe desigqéd bf Hubbell and
Greene, was built on South Boulevard at Harwood Street in 1913, it may have been.an
incentive to many of the Jewish families to locate nearby (Watson, 1980: 5). It
cerfainly confirmed the néighborhqod's status as Dallas' new Jewish.regidential
communitf chDonaid, 19?8:'1275. Much of the Edgéﬁood Addition is now in éhe South
Boulevard/Park Row Historic District (N. R..IQﬁS)ﬂ‘Prairie Style and Miﬁsiat'

‘Revival houses lined South Boulefard. Park Row ang,the_nofth side of Forest Avenue.

The ares south of the majior crosstewn streetcar line along Forest Avenue was

developed quite differentl&. Many working-class families and day-labore-s were
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drawn to the industrial jobs located near the railroads anghTfinity River and

Qs

flocked to the Scuth Dallas project area seeking housing in the early 20th century.
After World War I there was an influx of rural East-Te;as families, both hléck aﬁd
white, to the city. Because they lacked professional or business training, they,
too, weré attracted to the industfies and‘railroad-réiated work inlthe aireadf
crowded district (Singleton, conversation, March 30,'1990). The-a;ea was already
"plumbed" for housing starts b§ 1905 with five parallel strgetéar lines extending

into South Lallas and the crosstown Fofest Avenue line strefchinj across the width

of the region to the fairgrounds.-

So;th of Forest Avenue, more modest homes filled the blocks of the project
area streets of Pennsylvania, Peabody, and Birhinghﬁp {then Julius) between the
LH&TC railroad tracks and Secoﬁd Street. The homes were smaller than their
neighbors to the north, had less ornamentation and most were of wood frame
cénstruction. More of the city directories show that the area south of Forest
Avenue was the first to be developga, between about 1905 and 1915, while the area
north of Forest was developed after 1912 through';he 1§20s (Watson, 1980: 6).

A major impetus to growth in this part of the prosect area was the extension
of the Ervay Street carline in 1898 from Grand Avenue south to Forest Avenue where
it connected with the South Ddllas'Rapiﬂ Transit line running'east:across what is
now Forest Avenue to the fairgroﬁnds on Second Street. This_major‘croéstown
streetcar, charte;ed in 1858 by réalnestate ﬂévelqpers to gerv; their Chestnut Hill
{Colonial Hill) subdivision (Powers. 1969: 71), ran across vi;fuélly-vacant land.
fhe eity welcoged the aécesé te the fﬁirgrounds ané it is possible that‘Williém
. Gaston. on whoses East Dallas propefty the fairgrounds‘were'located, had some
infiuence in having the line buil: across Hafren‘s trécf. The Forest Avenue line,

which forms thz northern boundary of both the South Dallas and Colonial Hill
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project areas. served to open up all of goﬁth‘nallas to extensive developrent in
the vears between 1905 and 1922. The Gaston séfhﬁbook article described the

.

situation c. 1919,

For many vears most of this properiy vas planted in cotton and crops were
raised on it as late as last year. The sight was unique - a field of
green forage with paved streets and good sidewalks along it and homes all
around it (Gaston, n.d. c. 1919)

,

The fact that the Forest Avenue line preceded the development of the area is
anothér indication of streetcar companies still leading real estate promotion in

the early 1900s (Gooden, 1986: 46).

Phenomenal growth occurred south of Forest Avenue between 1905 and 1922 as

shown in tha Sanborn maps of those vears. In 1905 the only detail maps of the

7southern_sector of the city were for the Colonial Hill subdivisions and a mixed

residential and commercial strip élong the-wéstern edge of the fairgrounds to the
east of the project area. The 1905 city directories confirm fhat few residents
lived on the streets below Forest Avenue but by 1920 hundreds of families had moved
toc Pennsylvania, Peabody, and Birminéham streets. By 1922 the Sanbsrn maps
included scores of detail sheets on this area. A1l of the blécks south of Forest
Avenue, which separatéd the exclusive Edgewood Addition from the less préstigious

additions. were fully developed.

The four major east-west streets were Peabodv. Pennsylvania, Birmingham and
Belle {now Warren). Peabody, Pennsylvania and Biraincham streets were developed
earlier than Warren Avenue which, in 1922. still! served as a buffer area Lztween

white and black neighborhocds.. Conseguently. development was snottv alcr: Jarren

Avenue. Tha other streets.-though.rwere fully developed by 1922 and the houses had’

many similar features: set back. size. uniformitv of stvle. and porch
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configurations. Virtually all the houses on these streets were 1-story frame

o

‘structures of a simple, square or rgéiangular building footprint. The only

exceptions were on the south side of Pennsylvania Avenue, between Jeffries and

Mevers streets, where there were two brick houses and one of brick-veneer

construction, and on the south of Birmingham between Atlanta and Oakland streets

" where there were two stores, one of which was brick.

The east-west streets were almost exclﬁsively_residential'while major north--
south arteries'like Myrtie and Oakland stréets yeré dotted with commercial
structures, a few of which were sheathed with brick. RAuto garages were starting to
nake théir appearance and about one—fcurth to one-third of the houses in this

section had them. Very few lots were vacant in 1922 and a typical block on the

‘east-west streets had nine lots on each side. Some straets had five or six

identical or reversed plan houses in a row (1922 Sanborn maps, volume 4). The
majority of houses built in this area prior to 1922 were modest. non-architect

designed. pattern-book homes, built for modérate income families.

As with other residential suburban districts, schools and churches were built
soon after houses appeared. Forest Avenue High Schdcl, now James Madison Hiéh
School, was built in 1917 at a time when most of the Edgewood Addition had been
developed. The school served the neighborhoods both to the north and south of |
Forest Avenue and was considered to be one Sf.the citf's fgnest{ best-equipned and

best-staifed schools for many vears (¥:Donald, 1978: 126) .-

The city directories show that the initial development of this section of the

tratect area began after 1905, with a zurge in growth occurring akout 1915. 1In

1901 there were no residents listed on Peabody Street east of Central Avenue (then -

S. Camp Street in the Warren property!. John P. Murphy and Charlas F. Bolan=z.
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incorporated as the "ﬁﬁrphy and Bolanz Land and Loan Company", took advantage of
the crosstown Forest Avenue\;%reetca; constructed in 1888 across then-vacant Warren
property. As soon the tract was évailable, they began to develop a number of
residential tracts including the Warren and Winchester Additions in the _project
area (Dallas Morning News, October 1, 1935) Immedxately after it was opened to
development, about 1915, there wvere 103 residences listed below Forest Avenue
between Central Avenue and the ra1rgrounds at Second Avenue. ‘On Pennsylvania
Street there were no re51dents listed in 1901 east of Central Avenue (S Canp) but
in 1910 there were 14 addresses listed between Central and Myrtle avenues and by

1915 there were 137 residences extending.from Ceptral Avenuve to Second Avenue,

Some of the occupations of the ;esidents on Pennsylvanie Street in 19#5 include: a
fo;eman.of the Dallas Coffin Compahy, the owner of anlauto repair shop, an

| aseistant to a Vice-president of Pierce Oii, a bookkeeper, a metal worker, a Vice-

_:president of Greyhound Gravel, a cotton buyef, a salesman, and a grocery clerk.

These dccupations'appear to be. standard for the area (Dallas city directories,

1901. 1905. 1915).

The city directories show that as soon as this region was opened, sometime
after 1905, develepers were poised to exploit its potential. New housing starts
exploded on Pennsvivania, Peabody and B1rm1ngham streets so that 95% of the platted
lots had residences on them by 1920 most of which were developeﬁ by 1915. South of
Birmingham Street and north of Cooper Street 1ay a largely vacant area stretching
across the seuthern border of tre old ¥arrén tract. Some older,. vestiéal estates
remained in the area in the early 1920s and city directoriesjshov that much of the
land was still under cultivation at that time. ' This nerfew strie of land was all
that separatad the: growing blach communitv to tﬁe south from thé booming lower-
niddle class ehite subdivisions between.Farest_kveﬂue'and Birmingham Street in 1922

(Sanborn maps. 1922: Vol. 4).
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ﬁany changes occurred throughout the entire Colonial Hill and adjacent

neighborhoods in Souéh Central Dallaé bgtween-the nid-1920s and the mid-1950s.
Regardless of éfforts'by vhites living north of Warren to kgep black familiés from
moving.into their ﬁeiqhborhoodsrAa demographic chgnge'beg;q taking place in the
late 1920s. Vhite families began moving oﬁt‘ok their-hoﬁes and black families who
had always-lived south of ﬁa;ren Aveﬁue, began taking their places. 'Thg growing
blackvcommunity eventﬁally aqppted the éntire. Some of the fdrceé that
precipitated £his sﬁift inélude a steady deterioration of fhe area due to lack of
zoning restrictionsiand lack of early, 1ong—rangé planning for ‘the separation of

residential, commercial and industrial districts. Although many of the elegant

houses on South Boulevard and Park Row were purchased by black professionals, the

stately houses along Forest Avenue began losing ground to commercial development as

.early as the 1920s, as so often happened along the streetcar routes. Along the

H&TC traéks, which had always been a magnet for f;ctéries, indﬁstrialization
continued to grow.stehdily aiding:in_the deterioration of édjacent residential
tracts, which in turn had a nééativéleffect,on bther nearby neighborhoods. %he
construction of Centrél Expressway and I-45 in 1952 further'frégmented tﬁe
neighhorhoogs (HcDopald, 1§78: 127). The deleteriou; effects of these forces are
evident throughout this project area although.thefe are individuai buildings that
retain their original architectgral features and pockets of housesvthat still

resemble neighhorhoqu.
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Adjacent to the Colonial Hill additions, to ehe eaet of Central Expressway and
south of Warren Avenue, lies the largest expanse of the South Dallas project area.
Bounded by Forest Avenue, now Martin Luther King {MLK), to the norfh,'Hatcher |
Street to the.sopth,-Second Avenue elong the easteen.edge of the fairgrbupds, and
Central Expressway to the west the area is divided into iocallﬁ identified
naighborhoods some of whlch are Oueen City, the Prairie. Wheatley Place English

Place and South Side. The ent1re area is' uenerally referred to as South Dallas.

South Dallas is unique in the context of this nomination ae well as in the
historvoof Dallas. Texas. Much of this vast tract of South Dallas real estate was,
like Colen1al Hill and East Dallas. a product of the bu11d1na boors and suburban
:streetcar develobment that characterlzed Dallas phenomenal growth. Unlike those
areas, however, South Dallas was initially'settled bv and later developed
exclusively for black families. It is a misconception that blacks flooded inéo
‘South Dallas in the 1940s and 1950s, precipitating the "white flight" that took
place in the prestigious Edgewood Addition, now the Scuth Boulevard/Park Row
Historic District (Q- R. 1976). Actually, there had been an established, thriving
black residential community soutﬁ'of Warren Avehue, ceetered around Atlanta and
Latimer streets, for decades prior to the 1940s. ¥urther research shouid be
conducted to determine the exactllocation and extent of a post-Civil gar farming
community: possibly tﬁe precursor of Jthe Prairie", reported to have been in the
project area. The development of South Da}las from'its ineeption as a black
‘farming community te its'expaﬁsion as.an exclusifely black suburb makes it_en
1ntfluu;nu stu g arsa. both as e_cemmuhity_and.ae'pdrt of thehhiStofy of the‘

saoregated South of the late 19th and early 20th centuries.
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The community, well outside the city limits until about 1925, was called "the
Prairie” because of its distance from town (McDonald, 1978: 126), and possibly

because it was a farming community. : Resgarch inte the origins of this community,
coardinated by Kate Singletoq, a local historian, suggests that a historic black
presence in the project‘aréa dates té the end ﬁf the Civil War. Also, according to
Ms. Singleton, ex-sl;ves ﬁho settle& in the area weré ;gricultural_ﬂorkers and not
tied to the mills as ﬁas generally been perceiﬁed. The earliest Dallas city
directories that re;orded information qu tﬁis part of the proﬁect area
corroborates her reseafch;: Some of the early black.farming faﬁilies-weré the
Varners, Bluitts, Jacksons and Maloneys whose heads of household still listed their

occupations as “farmer" long after the area had begun urbanization (Singleton

conversation, 3/30/90: city directories 1900-1922): Earlier evidence of a black

. agricultural history in the area is recbr@ed in.éounty census tracts #104 and #109

which shsw several black families owging farms in what is.now South Dalla;
immediately after the Civil Ugr (Singleton conversation, 3/30/30). Newspaper
advertisements far real estate at .the southern ehd of the projeét area throughout
éhe early 1920s promoted it as being a good placé to raise vegetables, pigs, cows
and chickens, further attesting to its historg as a farming community (Dallas
Express, 1920: 6). The subject is sufficiently intriguing and poféntially

significant enough to warrant continued research.

When the city directories first began listing streets in this far South Dallas
community. shortly after tHe turn of the cenﬁﬁry. black families had apparently
been living and farming in the area for,more than 30 years. Their presence,

though. so far from the hub of Dallas. had little impact on the city at that time.

The community continued to grow, however, until its presence was eventually felt by

the wealthv merchant families who buiif their homes in the Edgewood Addition north

of the vacant acreage that lay between the two communities. At the turn of the
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century. this acreage acted ;s a large."buffer zone" of_uninﬁabited land separating
black families from Whiteg in South Dallas. In the years just before and
immediately following World war I; the "buffer zone" was greatly reduced as it was
grédually developed for lower and modefﬁte-income white housing, in the northern
sections south of Birmingham étreet and for the first of many exclusively "colored"
additions in the 10wer=areés closest to the original core of the black community.
Consequently; expanding black and wﬁite neighborhong grewﬁcloser andAcloser

-together. a fact that was not welcomed, and was actively discouraged. by white

propertv owners {(Dallas Express, 1920: 1)}. -

The 1900 City Direétory does not include any east-ﬁest streefs south of Warren
Avenue {(then RBRelle), or any north-south streets that extended south of Warren, all
. of which would have been outside the city limits at that time. In 1902 however.
Atlanta Street is described with the notation. "not being Built on." By-1905, 12
black heads of household are listed on Atlanta betwegﬁ Cooper.(then Archie) and
Metropolitan (then Greer) streets. Similarly, Latimeé Street {then Vine), which
ran parallel and to the west of Atlénta Street, was aisq described as "not being
built on™ in 1903. But by 1905 Latimer Street between Cooper and Metropolitan
streets had 13 “colored” heads of household listed, most of whom lived on fhe west
side of éhe street. Mt. Moriah Baptist Church, now at 3611 Latimer, was located on
the west ;ide of the street, as well. These two streets formed the nucleus of an
entirely black community in South Dallas that would continue to develop through the

first half of the century;

There wzre probably people living on Atlanta and Latimer and the adjacent
straets of Ruskin and Dildock prior te 1905 but since citv directories tvpically
did not extend far bevond the e¢ity limits. the pressnce of these rural hamlets

often went unreported. It is clear, howevir. that the area was rapidly urbanizing
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between their first mention in 1902 and 1910. Between 1905 and 1910 Atlanta Street
added 34 nev addresses, six of which ‘extended north to Lenway, épproaching Warren.

By 1910. Louis Hayden's home and frame grocery store appear at 3721 and 3725 S.

Atlanta Street. Hayden and members of his.family maintained a presence on Atlanta

‘Street for many years. The 2-story brick store building at 3735 Romine Street, at

its intersection with Atlanta Street, was‘built_by Hayden in 1925 réplécing the
original frame store. It'remains a landmark ip the community and is.currently
being renovated fcr:a community credit_gnioﬂ. In additiop to tﬁé homé;land
Hayden's store; a second grécefy and two major churches, St. Paul AME and 5t.
John's Primitive Baptist. were on Atlanta Street by 1905. {Dallas City Directories,
1905, 1910: ﬁénborﬁ maps, 1922: vol. 4}. Clearly, Atlanta and Latimer streets '

between Cooper and Hetfopolitan were developing as the core of black cohmunity life

.in Secuth Dallas.

" Of the 12 Atlanta Street residents liéte& in 1905, nine were still living ig
their original homes 12 yeﬁréllater. This was a remarkably stable comﬁunity in a
period of great mobilitv. especially for biack families. The 1905'citf directory
lists their occupationé as: Louis W. Wade, teamster, Geofge RBowles, Dallas
Calloway, Milton Cox, and Claiborne Coogsey, laborers, Mattie Myvers, laundress,
Charles Cooper, porter for Yonack Brothers, James Cross. farmer, ané BH. M. Jackson,
teacher. 1In 1508, Atlanta developed south of Casey (then Metropolitan) Street and
some of the same family-names appear there, ﬁCross,_fQo Calloways. and ﬁa@e),
iddicating that'family menbers were buying hbmeg neafbg. :That wasithé first year

the Hayden family appeared in the di;ectory along two‘Bluitté,_another'nld name in

the community; Erving B. Bluitr. who-residgd -at'3731 S. Atlanta. was }isfed.as a

realtor and possibly had something to do with the grewth in the community at that
time. Latimer Street had three Sattervwhite farilies and another Calloway family in

1905 {DzIlss City Directory. 190E). Latimer grew similarly to Atlanfa Street
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during this time with several commercial establishments and the addition of the
Knights of the Golden Chain Church. By 1917, both streets were fully developed
between Lenwav and Eugene streets, including the area of Atlanta Street known as

"Oueen City" (City Directories, Dallas County Plat Books).

.The 1922 Sanborn maps show tﬁé houses on Latimer and Atlanta streets, which
appear from city ﬂiréctories to be the first buiit in the.area, to be guite varied
in size and stvle. suggesting that‘they were not built by the gﬁme pérson-or from a
single plan. In contrast are tﬂe ﬁomes built ﬁbput 1915 6n_Rﬁskin and Dildock
Streets nearby which appear to be smaller in size andivery 5imi1ar to oﬁe another
in layopt, set~back and sizé._ Vifh the notable exceptions of a very large 2-story

house with 2-story stable at 3602 Dildock Street and the Queen City Holiness Church

~on Ruskin Street near Cooner Street, the remainder of houses'in these two blocks

appear td have constituted a2 planned development. It may, in fact, have been one

of the first developer-planned residential éommunities for black families. - The
1925 ecity directory shows that several grocery stores and other commercial
enterprises appeared on Latimer and Atlanta Street, adding to their status as

commercial centers. From this core grew a large and dynamic black community.

In the late 1910s and early 1920s there was a proliferation of additions in

far South Dallas exclusively for "colo:gd" people, some pf which surrounded the

- core community and others, developed just south of the project in the Trinity River

lovlands. From the crosstown Forest Avenue streetcar line three parallel lines
extended into South Dallas aiding in its development. The first two lines served
the extreme western and eastern fringes of the préject areai.the'Colopial_iihe

builc to promote the Colenial Hill Addition in tha 1até 1880s and the Second Strest

line to thz fairgrounds. When the Myrtle line bisectea.the.te;ritory between those

w—is b

two lines in the mid-1910s it opened the South Central area up to much greater
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development opportunities, all of them exclusively black. The Myrtle line provided
access to several adjacent cemeteries in far South Dallas, including black and
Confederate portions. It also served to promote‘a number‘of real estate ventures

that sorang up along its route in the late 19105 and 1920s. Within ten years, all
the vacant land south of Warren Avenue on elther side of the line was platted for

develooment (Dallas County Plat.Books}.

" One of the eariiost and best oxamples of streetcor sﬁhurbo planned for black
families was Wheatley Place.  The addition. named for 18th century black poet .
Phyllis Wheatley (WPA. Texas, Dallas Uoit, 1940: 5), included both sides of Havana,
¥evers .and Dunbar streets and ohe west side of Meadow Street, between Lenway Street’
to the north and McDermott Street to the south. It was platted in 1916 bﬁ A.C.

. Camp. who apparently included plans for Wheatley School and a park from its

inceptioo (Wheatley Place original plat, 1916:; Dallas Exoross, March 13, 1920}.

All the houses were situated on nice}sized 1ots with a upiforn set-back and
appearance. ill were l-stofy_frame houses with similar front porches and faced the
north-south streets, leaving the east-west streets for traffic. Sanborn maps show
the houses on Roberts Street, adjacent to Vheatley-Place on the east, to have
nearly identical building footprints as those in Wheatley Place. Sinoe residents
appear on Roberts Street at about the same time residents of Wheatlef,Place, they
may have been developed togetlher, although Roberts Street was not officially part
~of the addition. Vheatley School was in place on the 1922 Sanborn maps. To the
north and west. large tracts rema1ned vacant in 1922. To the south lay what is now
labeled Opporfunity Cemetory.oh current maps (Sanborn map, 1922: vol 4). For about

five'years Vheatley Place was an enclave unto itself, isolated from other

neighborhoods.
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Vheatlev Place attracted aspiring, middle-class black families in the late

~

1910s and 1920s. The Dallas Express reqularly reported the news of the Wheatigy

Place Civic League and an article of November 15, 1924 noted that several Dallas
city officials were on hand at its annual banguet at Wheatley Schdol, including
attorney Jas. J. Collins, representing the mayor, who:
brought greetings from the city commissioners, encouraging the well begun
work and pledging their whole-hearted support in the accomplishment of
whatever laudible program we may undertake for civic beauty.

Another article mentioned the Leading Star Charify Club of Wheatley Place which met

at the home of Mrs. Wade D. Sanders, 3632 Mevers and lﬁtef ht Mrs. M. P. Butler‘s

home at 3601 Meyers and W. P. Morgan's home at 3535 Dunbar (Pallas Express, April
24. 1920). Wheatley Place was home to several exemplary Dallasites remembered in

Black Presence in Dallas. Among them are John Rice, English teacher and‘principal

-af Bookeg T. Washington High School as well as editor of the Dallas Express

newspaper and Secretary-Manager of the Dallas Negro Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Rice

lived at 3603 ﬁunbar Street. According to Black Presence in Dallas, D.B. Garne;
built the first home in Wheatley Place at 3703 Dunbar. Garner served as dietician
for the Federal Reserﬁe Bank for 27 vears and brought the Negro Chamber of Commerce
to Forest Avenue (now MLK). Leonﬁrd Gibson, Dallas' first black mail carrier lived
at 3725 Havana Street in Wheatley Place.” It is of note that at the height of the
1930s Depression all these-men-owned their homes,.as did the majority of-resiﬁents
in Wheatley Place (City direétory,_1934}; ¥heatley Place was the modern, "upscale"
black commuﬁity of its day.an& served as a_madel‘for subsequent.devélopments in

South Dallas. such as the Tdeal Addition.

Vheatley Place. platted in 1916, mav have been the first. of many planned
subdivisions déveloped and promota& ekclusivaly for.black families in South Dallas

ovzr the following two dacadss. Wheatlev Pl;ce‘so successfully varalelled middle-
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class white community development that it must have had symbolic significance, if

~

not for actual equality with whites in the Dallas of that time, at least for the

possibility. Comparisons between black and white real éstaté promotions are

obvious and revéaling.‘ The October 9, 1920, edition of the Dallas Expreés, a

weekly black newspaper, advertised a new ;esidential addition for fcolo;ed"
families in much the same way that developers of.upﬁer class white communities.
such as Munger Place in Fast Dqllﬁs, were prﬁmoting.their'additions. “They
specified amenitieé and exclusivity. Thet;dedl ﬁddition becgoﬁed with "A Look

femphasis added].

Advertisements for black subdivisions offered some of the same features as,

white communities. but with a few twists. The Ideal Development Company emphasized

its poliecy of "straight and liberal dealings” with prospective buyers, implying

that previous real estate dealings with black families might not have been so
"st;aight" or "liberal™. The newspa#er id also referred to other additions
developed by the Ideal {later Elite) Development Company, such as Lincoln Manor No.
2. Elite and Southland Additions, all at the far southern edge of the project area.
It mentioned that, in those-three additions.alone, moré than 800 lots had been sold
since the addition opened. The terms of sale for the Ideal hddition were $6.00
cash, per lot, down with payments of $6.00 per ménth, although.it did not mention
for hov long. The ad smphasized that there would be "no interest and no taxes" -
possibly bscause it was well outside thevcify limits - at least for aﬁother five
vears (Dallas Express. April 28, 1923: 7). 'Thé bréliferation of black additions

led to the solicitation of black patronage in related sales areas. Advertisements
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in the 1918 Dallas Express. such as the one placed/by the American Realty and

-~ .
-~
-2

Construction Company, targeted a black audience:

We guarantee prompt attention to all matters. Quick Sales and Little.
Profit. Purchase or sell Real Estate. FErect or repair houses and advance
money on same (Dallas Express, 5: Feb, 8, 1918).

~ Interestingly. efforts to determine whether the owners of the American Realty and

Construction Company or the Ideal and Elite Development Corporations were
themselves black. were unsuccessful. The companies did not in any way. either in
their ads or in city directory references identify themselves as beina part of the

black community. This, too, poses some interesting avenues for further research.

After VWorld War I, South Dallas. alohg with the rest of Dallas, burgecned with

- housing starts. That many new additions were being opened specifically for black
families in South Dallas pronpted white families just to the north of the growing

black community area to establish a "color line" to prevent black migration to

their area. For more thap a decade the tracts bf vacant land on either side of
Warren Avenue that served as a buffef between develoning black and white
communities had kept them separate. As development intensified after World War I,
the vacant and estate lands were subdivided eventually eliminating the buffer area.
Vhite homeowners who built in the Edgewopd Addition before the war became alarmed
at what thev sav as ; threat to their exclusive neighborhood. The South Dallas
Improvement League, a group of white residents in the Colonial Hill and South
Dallas proiect areas. attempted to institute a ban on racial mixing in tﬁeir

community. Their efforts were reported in Dallas®' black nevspaper, the Dallas

‘Exprass, in & front page article of its March 13, 1920 edition. Under the
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that had the "color line™ continued eastward. it. would have bisected Wheatley

-remain undevaloved.

-
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headline. "South Dallas Residents Would Establish Color Line", the article read. in

~
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Discussion of the removal of the terminal tracks from Expesition avenue
fsie] and the establishment of a "color line" in South Dallas occupied
the attention of the South Dallas Improvement League at its meetlng last
night in the Forest Avenue H1gh School. :

The "color line,” as proposed by the league, would begin at the Houston
and Texas Central Railway, run east on Cooper street to Ponrdren street,
north on Pondren street to Lenway. east to Atlanta street, south 200 feet
on Atlanta street to Cooper street (not opened through at this point}.
thence east to Myrtle street, south on myrtle to Casev street, west on
Casev to Wilder street. south on Wilder street to 0nev alley and south on
‘Opev allev to Eugene street.

The district south of this dividing line is now the Negro section, and it
is the plan of the league to maintain the section north of the line for
whites. Two or three Megro families are now living north of the line and.
these will be induced to remove to the other side of the line, it was
said {Dallas Express, March 13, 1920:1).

“The article also reported that this group had opposed the establishment of a Negro

vark in South Dallas and caused the city authorities to cancel the pending contract

with Alex Camp [who had earlier platted Wheatley Place} (Dallas Express. March 13,
1920: 1). Theras was no indication that the "color line" was endorsed o£ made
official by the city but for se;eral years afterward no new additions fof blacks
were opéned in the vicinity of the “color line". It wasn't until the late 1920s
and into the 1940s that the sections abutting Cooper and Lenway streets {the major
north/south dividing line of the "eolor line™). By that time, white families were
already leaving the area for other sections of Dallas. Tt 1s‘of interest to note

Place. Perhaps the League was counting on th: lands surrounding Wheatley Place to

At tha same time the South Dallas Improvement League was trving to dissuade

further black development in South Dallas. blacks ware being urged by theair
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community leaders to pﬁrchase theif own homes in the area. The Dallas Express of
November 13, 1920, ran an edita;ial headlined by “Home_Owning Increasing With

Opening of Negro Additions in Dallas™. It mentioned that the Ideal Development b
Company had begun in 1914 by putting 214 lots in the Elite_hddition on the market

*axclusively for Colored people" {emphasis added]. The Elite Addition is to the

south of the project area, but the activities'of the Ideal Development company had
an impact on the areé'nonetﬁeless. "They élso developed Lincoln‘nanor No. 2 with
752 lots. tha Southland Addition. and the Tdeal Add1t1on wzth 270 lots. These

addltlons are near the southern boundary of the nro1ect area.

Thg development company took pains to invite the editor of the Express to the

area. after which he wrote:

’

It was surprising to see the hundreds of homes that have been built in
these additions since thev were put on and there are now about 25 houses
" going up. Banks Johnson owns a good general store and woodyard. Lincoln
Manor Baptist Church . . . owns four lots and a good two-storvy building.
The Lincoln Maner Masonic Hall . . . have purchased lots and are scon to

erect a handsome two-story hall. . . .The owners of the addition have
donated seven lots and a building for school purposes and there is a
splendid city school now on the addition. The city also promises to
build a new school house [Rice possibly .-Rice School]. There are four or
five other churches belonging to both the Baptist and Hethodist
denominations.

The editor went on to describe the housing tvpes as "a very handsome six-room

cottage™ (Dallas Express, November 13, 1920: 6). He encoﬁraged black families to

nurchase houses in the area rather'than rent reminding his readers that it was the

policy of rﬁe Ideal Develonnent Corrany to ass1st in that process by allowlna them

' ~to "rent to own", He exhorted th21 .to "start a home and - fbeg1n1 gradually paying

same off.until we becomé a vpeople of provertv owning power" (Dallas Express. Nov.
13. 1920: 6). Manv took his advice. A nnmberqu,subdivisiohs like English Place
11923) and Morningside Addition (1927} sprang up fhrOughbut South Dallas in the

"

late 1910s and 1920s.
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The developers advertised their additions with'thé same kind of jargon agents
used to sell white sﬁbdivisions and Wheatley Place was even touted as the "Black

Munger Place". The 1deal Addition was advertised aélthe‘“ﬁigh Class, Bon Ton,

Restricted Residence Addition -[emphasis added]. It is not clear just what was
restricted in these black subdivisions but it is clear that the idea of restriction
was salable. An aﬁvertisemgnt for the Qame addition in 1920 prﬁclaimed there to be
excellent prospects for the Ervay and Myrtle streetéar lines being extended "to
within a2 short distance of this addition" a promise that was realized when both the'

Ervay and Myrtle lines were extended south to Hatcher Street making them within

“walking distance of the far south suburb. It is of note that in this area and

time, the early 1920s, the streetcars were no longer preceding development - at

least not in this area.

The lots in the area were advertised as follows:

211 lots 50 feet wide and at least 100 feet .deep . . . There are 271 lots
in the addition, all level, rich chocolats loam soil, no deep sand or
mud. Prices are mostly $600.00 per lot with larger lots from S650. to
900. Terms $6.00 cash and 36.00 monthly on most lots . . . No interest
or taxes. [This was well ocutside the city limits established in 1915 and
even the 1925 annexation wouldn't bring it into the city (City Annexation

Map, 1925)].
The advertisement went on to declarg that:

Lumber is fast coming down. Buy a lot and build a small house, if but
two or three rooms of your own, to which you can add later on, is far
better than raying rent on a house belonging to some one else. Hone
owners maka rontented peovnle. good citizens and happy families. OWN YOUR
OWN HOME. ha'e a garden. raise chickens. keep a cow, enjoy flowers and -
thus be able to laugh. sing and be happy. Payving rent gets vou no where
{Dallas Express. Oct. 30, 1920: 6). ' C -

This was in stark contrast to thz advertisements for Munger Place which promotzd
itself as “erphasizing the immorcant fact that its deccupants need never feaar the

ancroachment of factories, shops. or any other undesirable class of neighbors
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with;n its boundaries” (McDonald. 1978: 153) and as haviné "no unattractive
environme;ég to mar the beauty of its perfect surroundings or to disturb thé veace

of its occupants." ﬁomes on Swiss and Gaston avenues were required to be of a ﬁ
minimum cost of $10,000 "in an era when the average.cost of a home was $2,000 to
$3,00. Prices on side streets‘Iike Worth and Qﬁnius cost $4,QO to SS,OOd. Thé

lots were sold "o white persons-only' and had all the latest amenities: gas, water

and sewer connéctions, street railway service on éide streets, concrete sidewalks,

and paved stfeets"'(HcDonald;—1918: 161); There was a world of diffefgnce between

the tw; additions and yet the Idea} Development Combany ﬁas appéaling tp similar
desires: comfort, beauty in one's surfoundihgs, and fhe ability to own a home.

Their approach differed from those of Munger Place's developers in that they

promised happiness rather than status or wealth. -

Appérentiy. the Ideal Addi£ion was successfui and its developers were able to
offer Iots in Ideal Number‘Two Addit;on; adjacent to it, within the yéaf. The
salient features of Ideal Number Two were thé same as its predeeesso}: the
developers declared them to be the prettiest and cleanest additioné ever put on the
market in Dallas for COLORED PECPLE (emphasis tﬁeirs), that deeds vere free of any
lien and the buyers would be treated faiyly by the development EOmpany (Dallas
Express,'April 1922: 6). In this ad;ertisement, the developers mentioned that
buyers could either build on the 1§ts themsglves, with funds supplied by the
developers. or thev could purchase houses already built by the company on easy

tarms {Dglggsiﬂxnresg. Aﬁril_1922:'6!;

Throughout the 1920s, other. similar ads were §1aceq for exclusively “colored“
additions. In 1923 the Bon Ton Additiop. at the the end of the Ervay Street
carline near the Ideal Additiocns. went on the market. The following vear Lincpln

Place was advertised as being the best location in Dallas with "No mud, close to
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ihe.Hyrtle line. good water, phones, electric lights, no city taxes, no water

~
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rents" {Dallas Express June 1924). BAn interesting comparison between sections is

that Lincoln Place in 1924 promised "the City has ordered Oakland Avenue to be

paved within 8 bhlocks of our Addition" [emphasis added] (Dallas Express, June,

1924) while Munger Place was advertising "streets paved by the new bitulithic

process on a solid concrete foundation” in 1905 (MeDonald, 1978: 161).

While these additions were being developed in far South Ddllés, south of the
traditional biack ﬁommunity around Atlanta and Latimer Streets, other tracté were
filling in the gaps, not only between the diffefeﬁt established black communities
but also between the black enclaves ana thé.yhiﬁe neighborhoods to the north. One
sﬁéh tract, to the north and west of Wheatley Place and aleng the eastern bﬁrder of

‘the Queen City area. had separated the two communities for years.

* The addition, consisting of Twyman, Tanner, Burger and Dathe (Vaverlv)
streets. oﬁened in the early 1920s aﬁd played a major part'in the changi;g
demographics of South Dalla;. In 1922 no bﬁcupants were listed in the city
directory between Atlanta {(through Myrtle) and Jeffries streets and no buildings
appeared on the 1922 Sanborn maps. Qy 1926, however, 21 houses had been built on
Twyman between Atlanta and dakland streets, with an additional 21 built by 1934 to
Jeffries Street. Similar growth was oceurring in the th;ge streets south of Twyman
Streast. Tanner Street, just to‘the south, had eight houses built bhetween 1922 and
1926. between Atlanta and Oakland streets, with éq additional 18‘bui1t'bQ 1934
extending to Je:fries Street in ﬁheatley Place.“'On Burger, two streéts south of
Twyman Street, 23 hogsés vere builf-betweeniﬁyrtlg.énd Jeffries streets;‘starting_
at Yhzatlev Flace ‘between 1922 and 1926. By 1934:.six zore homes were constructed
on that bloék with an additional Qi‘bétween'Myrtle and Atlaﬁta streefs. Dathe

Stre=-. the southmost street in this section, was alréady developed in the block
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between Ruskin and Myrtle sfreets bué between 1922 anﬁ 1926 eight new houses were
built west of Oakland Avenue with an additional 10 built between Oakland and
Jeffries streets. The development of this addition linked South Dallas' two major
black neighborhoods, Queen City and Wheatley fléce, for the first time. It is of
note that about one third of the.houses were owﬂér occupied in 1934, at the héight
of the Gfeat'ngpression {1922 Sanborn mapé vol. 4, fity Directﬁriés, 1921, 1922,

1926, 1934).

The significance of this addition, beyond its rapid deve;opment and owner-
occupied status, lies in the fact that it was thehﬁirst to venture into the
traditional "buffer zone" separatihg the white community to thg north and the black
one to the south. For the fi?st timé since the hcolor line" was‘established, black
-residences abutted a traditionally white commuhity. from that time through the
1950s, white fﬁmilies began leaving their South Dallas homes and black families
moved into the once-exclusive neighborhoods north of the "color line". Eventually

all of South Dallas came to be identified with the black cbmmunity.

Another development that filled in a gap between estabiished black communities
was built on two blocks of Romine Stfeet.to the west of Queen City. Begun n the
late 1920s and compieted by the mid-1930s, 17 substantial brick, Tuder Revival-
inspired homes were constructed for black families on Romine Street at 2323, 2327,
2329, 2333, 2337.‘2403.,2405, 2407, 2411, 2415, 2419, 2421, 2423; 2429, 2431. 2433,
and 2435. Prier to 1926, the block was completely vacant with thé-exé:eﬁ_ttion of one
house across tﬁe'street at 2332 Romine. Of tth17, six were already built by 1926
" with the rest completed bricr‘fo 1935. Adjacent to the established black éommﬁnity
formzd by Atianta ahd'Latimer.streefs,'none of'thé 1?’bcﬁes haﬁéAbeeh'demolished or
‘ substantially altered. They aré ;11 similar in avppearance., with a unifofm.sat-_ |

’

back. and building materials. Thev are the onlv housss of this design and stvle in
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. the South Dallas project area offering a contrast to the 1910s and 1920s wood frame

bungalows and cottaqes_that the streetscapes in the_area. Several of the original

families, the Hutchinsons, Carters. Kearys and Christians, endured over time and

were still living in the houses in the 1940s. It is again remarkable that
throughout the Great Depressidn, eight of the 17 homes were owner-occupied. One of
the homeowners, A.S. Jackson. Jr.. was the son of influential minister A. . S.

Jackson of the New Hoﬁe Baptist Church.

Notabhle commercial buildings constructed during the 1920s were: Louis J.
Hayden's new brick grocery store at 3741 Atlanta Avenue.'fsaac Andres' grocery at
4121 Metropolitan Aéenue, Armstrong & Grace's-store at 4701 Myrtle, Dance Grocery

and Market at 4709 Myrtle, Mrs. Phila Harrott's store at 2704 Romine Avenue, Philip

Hechtman's grocery at 3111 Atlanta, Joe's Grocery and Market at 3222 Tuskegee and

E. J. Poilock's grocery at 2330 éouthland. Willie M. Greer had a beauty shop at
2944 Warren Avenue. There were a numher of otﬂer commercial buildings on Atlanta
and Myrtle, tﬁe major streetcar iine serving tﬁe neighborhood (City directory,
1928). It appears thaf the Atlanta Street ;ore had a number of established
commercial enterprises but Myrtle Street, alﬁhg the streetcar line, had the most

businesses catering to blacks. All of these establishments were located south of

the "color line".

Although tﬁe Hyrt;e line proviﬁed trahsportation for most of South Dallas'
residents. the private autcﬁobile was‘beginniﬁg'to make itélpreﬁepce known in'the
early 1920s. Twa service stations were listed in the 1925 City Directory: § & L
Service Station at 3319 Mevers near ﬁheatleﬁ Placé aﬁd Getson T;'Hayden's Queen
Ci;y Serviee Station at 3731 Atlanta; In a.éuﬂe_16.11§23 edition of_thé Dallas
Express there is an advertisemant for Lingo Lumbef Co. soliciting "Your patronage"

to build in Csdar Sprinas Park. a new colored addition on Mockingbird Lane. They

-47-



9

L e T

offered free auto car rides as an incentive to bring prospective buyers to the area

(Dallas Express, June 16. 1923: 2). .In one of the most distant additions, south of

Hatcher Street, scores of identical homes shown on the 1922 Sanborn map had
identical auto garages all situated at the same angle from their houses.

Apparently they were amenities of the subdivision indicating, perhaps, the

- developers' faith that automobile transportation would supplant the streetcars

(Sanborn maps, 1922: vol. 4). Streetcars never did extend to this far south

subdivision.

A centennial edition of the Dallas Morning News ﬁrinted in 1935, listed 40,000
"negroes" in the in the Dallas Metropolitan area. It identified the "well-known
haunts of the negro" in Dallas as Deep Ellum and Central Avenue, in east-central

and central Dallas, well to the north of the project area. The article also

mentioned the original post-Civil War villages of Freedmantown and Stringtown as.

forerunners of the “"chief negro community"” centered around Hall, State, and Thomas
Avenue (Dallas Morning News, Octobervil 1935). City directories for the vear

confirm that the majority of prominent‘and ptofessional blacks lived in that area;
The paper did not ﬁention South Dallas, although it was a major black residential

area by the 1930s, possibly because it was "new" to the city. A large portion of

the project area had been annexed éshrecentiy as 1925. Also, many of Dallas' black

leaders, officers in the NAACP ;nd the Progressive Voter's League lived and worked
on Thomas, Hall and State streets fGee_and'Villiams, n. d.}.  Another reason South
Dallas might have been ovérlookeé.was ttét it lacked the notoriety ofraregt like
Deep Ellum, with its blues clubs and redlight districts. South Dallas was
primarily a residential black communlty that had ranldly, but only recentlv begun

to affect greater Dallas at that, tlme.-
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The centennial edition hinted of changes to come in its statement that

"housing,. sanitary health, #nd other ‘conditions among Negroes [needed to] be
improved” and that "social surveys continued to reveal that much more should be
done by publie, tax-éupported authorities to safeqguard the health and social
security of the whole community" (Dallas quniﬂd Ne#, Qect. 1, 1935). 1In thé late
1930s and throughout the 1940s major phfSical changes occurred within th; central-
city black neighbbrhodds thaf altered thé_city‘s‘démographic make-up and evenfually
Ieft South Dallas the predominant black community, a situatipn that continues to
the present. By 1939 a mﬁjor "slum clearance” effort was undgrway in the central
sections of the_city'replaciﬁg'suh-standard'housing with Federal.ﬁulti~fami1y
housing projects. The Dallas Guide and History records:
Here the poor are lodged in séualid, dilapidﬁted,shanties and fraﬁe
houses of the "shotqun" type. some without the elementary conveniences
and almost all unfit for human habitation. . . . a low income group. the
majority of negro residents are compelled to live in dwellings of this
sort although many are home owners, particularly in the exclusively Negro
sections (Dallas Unit, Federal Writer's Program, WPA box 4357, 1940).
It was alsoc estimated that 25;percent of-blacﬁé living'in the c¢ity resided in
servants’ houseé on their employers®’ lots. The effect of these efforts to rid the
central city of its housing blight was a housing shortage for blacks and an
increase in the number of biack families moving to South Dallas. Indicative of the
major shift of Dallas' black population to the far south was the 1939 Eonstruction
of the ﬁew ﬁincoln fNegro) High School at 5000 S. bakland Avenue at the southern
end of the project'aéea. WPA files note that Wheatley Park at Nellie gnd McDermott
streets. and Coloniai éark at Kendalkin.apd Pennsylvania dvenugs ﬁére two of four
"Negro Pérks" in the city (WPA, box 4357, 1939: T}f ‘The location of the city's

black parks is evidence of large black populations not only in-Sonth Dallas but

across the H&TC tracks in Colonial Hill. also.
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World War II brought manv more ﬁiacks into South Dallas to work in é;fense
industries. solidifving South Dallas' identification as the predominént black h
neighborhood. From the mid-1930s through the 1940s, many of the leaders of Dallas’
black communities had moved fo South DPallas, as well. A comparisop of 1922, 1934
and 1945 city directories shows the relocation of prominent black families,
identified in glggg_ggggggggwig_gg;lwg,.froﬁ_central Dallas addresses'to those in
South ballas. Charles Ashe;ry, a wéll-kpown teacher at Booker T. Hashingtonlﬂigh
Schoeol. moved to 3741 At}anfa befween 1952 aﬁd 1934: Clarence Carf. principal of
Bocker T. Vashing£6n, moved to 2241 Caséy (now Metropolitan) between 1922 and 1934;

the family of Juanita Craft. celebrated Civil Rights activist, moved to Warren

Avenue between 1934 and 1945; John Rice, editor of the Dallas Express movéed to his

Dunbar Street home between 1934 and 1945; the family of Harold Wendell Lang, a

distinguished professor of Education, moved to 3917 Atlaﬁta in 1934 and to 2830

McDermott in 1944. Dr. Lang was a graduate of Wheatley Elementary and Lincoln High

School. §t. Paul AME pastor, Revérend Ira B. Loud's family ﬁoved to 2615 Burger .
between 1922 andt1934: John Henry Héékey, a2 district manager for Atlanta Life
Insurance, moved‘to 3801 Myrtle Street where he started the H&rtle Street
Improvement Club, between 1934 and 1945; Joée#h J.'HcHillan, principal of Wheatley

School, moved to 2308 Jordan between 1934 and 194%.

In additioﬁ to the churches and schools in the area.lthere vwere several black
cemeteries located in South Dallas. Two were éstablishédAaboﬁt 1935, probably as a
rasult of the Ideai-and Elite Additiéﬁs in far South pallas.in thé 1920s. They
were the Woodlawn anﬁ Hillside Cemegéries which,adﬁoined‘bpifhe south side of
Ratcher Street between Sépond and.Oakiand; VLincqln.Memorial Cemetery. containing
43 acres on Kéufmén Road. opened in 1930 aﬁd_wés'éaid to “rank as one of the finest

negro cemeteries in the South”. Oakland Cemetefy. at 3808 Oakland Avenue, was

.established in the 1890s for'whites and engulfed'aolarge tract between McDermott
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Street, below Wheatley Place, and Pine Street, between Oakland Avenue and Meadow

-~ -

Street. According‘to the Dall s_g_:ﬁigg_Newé, it was considered "one';f the city's

most beautiful burying grounds”. Although the paper didn't mention it, Oakland ?

Cemetery contained both Negre or Confedgrate sections (Dallas Morning News, October
1, 1835). The‘ceﬁeteries also étimulated a nﬁmﬁer of ancillary'businesses in South
Dallas. OQakland Avenue, in particulap,'hgd severai florist shops,'ﬁurseries,
marble works gnd other funerary businesseS'established'e;rly in the century

{Sanborn maps. 1922).

Since the 1940s, South Dallas has been plagued with increased commercial and .

industrial encroachment, in much the same as its neighbor Colonial Hill. It also

. has had an abundance of poor-quality apartment complexes and housing projects

-intrude into the predominantly middle-class, residential neighborhoods.

Nevertheless, much of South Dallas' historic residential architecture, consisting

primarily of bungalows and cottages vith neat yards and flower gardens.- serves as a

reminder of the middle-class values and aspirations of their builders and of the

truly significant achievements made by the children and grandchildren of ex-slaves

in the segregated South.
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East Dallas . | Ll

The project area known as Mill Creek or East Dallas, was the first

neighborhoced east of Dallas} centra; business distriﬁt to become developed

"starting with Victérian'h@uses and followed by frame. two-étory Prairie homes,

brick mansions and finally frame cottages and bungalows" {0ldsr Neighborhoods,

1986: 32). In addition to the residences. there are manv apartment complexes,

commercizl and institutional buildings throughout the district. especially aleng

the old streetcar routes. The East Dallas‘projecf

Fitzhugh avenues on the west and east. Ross Avenue

area boundaries are Haskell and

and Main Street on the -nerth and

-south. *The project area lies completely within the boundaries of the old city of

East Dallas. and is considered by many to be thaz heart of that-eéfly. separate

-municipaiity. Three major forces that shaped the development of East Dallas wers

the arrival of the railroads. the establishment of the Texas State Fair and the

network of street railways that determined routes of growth.

The early settlement of East Dallas from 1855 until the town's incorporation

in 1882. was agricultural in nature. The first recorded settiement occurred in

1855 when Captain Jefferson Peak purchased a'large
northeast of Dallas and built-a farmhouse near the

strezts. Peak had passed threugh'Texa; in 1846 to

L1855 he revurned with his family to ssttle east of

tract of land far to the
corner of Worth and Peak
ficht in the Mexican War and in

th: ‘emerging town of Dallas

fBut:arfielé. i373: Feak). An 1880 map of East Dall.s shows that Pezk owned

rouchly half the land bounded by Ross Avenue and Maiun Street to the north and

santh. UY=2skell and Carrsll -ztrezets to the west and

east. ronstituting more than 3



After the Civil War, Peak was joinéd by Confedérate Captain William H. Gaston
who purchased 400 acres along old Whlfe Rock Road fnow Swiss Avenue) where he built’

.

an enormous Greek Revival home in 1971 (razed) (Mabry, 1984 4). Gaston was a

powerful force in Dallas' early development. .ﬁithin a few vears.after his arrival
in 1867, he hdd purchased vaéthtracts of land in South‘épd East Dallas, founded

Dallas' first bank. donéted land fof thé County Fair-(presént site of-Baylor

. Hospitall}. and . nventually parlayed the small exn051t10n into the State Fair (Mabry,

1384: 10: Gaston. n.d-: 1Yy, Most 1mportantlj, Jaston w1th backlna from local

businessmen. brought the fallroads to Dallas in 1872 and 1873, whlch ultimately

~mads the city's ﬁortune. His impact in East Dallas was achieved by maneuvering

both thé Houston and Texas Central (H&TC) and the Texas and Pacific {T&P) railroads

tc a junction approxzimately one and a half miies ro the east of the Dallas

Courthouse. In doing this. Gaston helped orchestrate Dallas' greowth away from the

Trinity River towards the railroad station on his lands in East Dallas. The
resulting housing shortage encoﬁraged'Jefferson Peak and other landowners to begin

subdividing their lands.

Althcugh tha railroads promised to spur building activity in East Dallas. the
area remained sparsely settled due to an. econonic downturn in 1875 that stalled .
development for some time (Powers, 1969: 19). The area was heavily wooded,

especially along Mill Creek as it flowed through Exall Park aleng Hall Street, juest

eaz® of the proiject area,-toward The Cédafé iﬁ South'Dallas (HcDonald. 1978: 137}
There was 1iftie Dulldlnﬂ or streat cor:tructlon in the project area east or'
Washington Street prlor to the late 1270s al*hough the Butterfieid and Rundlett
Official ' Mzp :i_ﬁallas shoﬂs East Daligs as a'platted eptitv by 1875 (Mabrv.
19842161, B spall commercial iistriér épraﬁg ap around he denot and consistzd of

= few boszrdainz houses. lumber ‘vards. and restaurants that survived only. becaussz of

the raiircad rraffic {Powers. 1%69: 14, Ones mulc-d*awr streetcar line, opsratad



pe
by the Dallas Strezet Réilroad Company. ran out Ross Avenue.and up San Ja;intof
Street. Built by Colonei William J. keller in.1875, the San Jacinto line. as it
was known, was the-only line to serve the area until 1882. Its.primary purpose was
to bring passehgers from thé depét to-the downtown Dal;as business district

(Powers. 1969: 19, 36).

Beyond the tiny clustar of commercial structures near the depot. the remainder

of East Dallas at this time consisted of large estates, like those of Jefferson

"Peak and William Gaston. and a number of,smallefAfamily farms (Map, East Dallas:

188CGs). The early character of the region was articulated by ¥illiam Gaston when,
upon completing his mansion at 3900 Swiss Avenus in 1873, he lamented of being all

alone out in the country and offered free land tec his friends so he would have

~company. fGaston's nearest neighbors *o his 400 acre plantation were Jefferzon

Peak, a mile to the east in the center of_thé project area, and Swiss immigrants,
Jacobh Nussbaumer and Henry Boll, whe lived nearly that far to the west (Saxen.
1923: §)_. This semi-rural .conditicn persisted until Dallas began to recover from

the depression in the lafper part of the 1870s.

The mest intensely developed part of East Dal;as, in the early 1870s was its
western perimeter where disappointed colonists.of La Reunion, a failed Utopian
venture. settied uron its'dissolgtion'in—the 1850s. Rather than return to their
native France, SWitzeriand aﬁé Belgium. gﬁny of the disappointed colonistg.
zstabliched homes a2nd engared in tfades that ﬁroved vital-to Dailas' deﬁel:?ment
(¥cDonald, 1972: 129). Jacob.ﬂussbaumér, a na£ive-6f Switzerlanﬁ. purchased 57 1/2
acres along Swiss‘ﬁvannerinxlssﬁ and persuadsd his brothgr-in-law. HenryrBili. to
azz a rract of land nzarby ¥akrv. 1984: 5, Theg Jers among tﬁe fire: of

v Buropsan immicrants whe szvzli=3 in East Dallas forminc the rucleus ¢of :its
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of street Qames'and the Wilson Block, a row of 19th century homes located across

Swiss Avenue from the site of Henry Boll's 1859 homestead (razed 1905). Two early

homes left standing are the c. 1885 gambrel—roofcd Beilharz home at 2723 Swiss

.Avenue and the c. 1885 Wagner House wh1ch was moved to lee Oak Street in 1976 from

its or1g1nal site at Bryan and Germania (now L1berty) streets (MacDonald, 1978:

t12e, 130). .

When thé eaénomy ?gcovered in the:i;ﬁfﬁr paré bf the 1870$, Easp Dallas began
to experience thé same wild. uncaﬁtroiled grqwth'that wag afflicting centrgl and
South Dallas (McDonald. 1978: i37)- Hanf businESSés bedah,building east along the
streetcar liné thatkstretchedAirom:downfgwn Dallas fo'the railroad depot. _The |

fairgrounds drew people to the area and many began investing in property nearby.

. By 1322 the community had grovr so rapidly that its leading citizsns. among thenm

Peak. Gaston and rancher Christopher Columbus Slaughter, met and voted to

incorporate as the separate ﬁuniciﬁality of East Dallas (Saxan}_IBBBE 10). At th%
time of its annexation in 1889. fhe land area of East Dallas was actuélly iarger |
than that of Dallas. The city of Dalals aacquired East Dallas, aleng with seve;al
unincoroporated suburban parceis. on the-lést déy of December,'1889. fo make Dallas_

the largest city in Texas for the 1890 census (Reith, 1930:_168: Dallas Morning

Aﬂggs. October 1, 1935). It was both the first and last time in itsAhistory that

Dallas bad the honor.

Be waen Ne tember 1882 and 1889 the City County of separately 1ncorpcrétéd

East Dallas undertock a number of projects to enhance the growth of the town. It

set ur a2 school district. efected a combination City Hall and scheolhouse building.

iy

commigsicned = Itrest :azlroad Tt go out Szn Jacinto Street. and swztznded koss and

(a3

11u1:

n

Hask=3) avenues to its city

hose of the project ared - Fitzhugh Avenue

IS

'.,.I

ané Yszin Strss*t . During that time Willizm Gaston. whe served as Treasurer of the
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town. headed the State Fair and Erxposition Asscciation and vurchased 80 acres of
land to the southwest of the project area for a new fairgrounds. It has remained
the location of the State Fair and was instrumental in bringing street railroads i

and visiters to the area, aiding in its development (Mabry, 1984: 10).

East Dallas' single largest landowner. Jafferson Peak. platted his firet

subdivision in 1874 along Ross Avenue. (Mabry, 1984: 3) but in thsz mid~1880s

mn

Czptain Peal stiil owned most of tha land boundzd by Ross Avenu Main Strest.
Haskeil and Carrcll streets (Map. East Dallas: 1880s). It 'wasn't until aftar his
father's death in 1885 that his =on, Junius. began larce scale subdivisicn of ths

family's extensire holdings. The land around ths old Peak homestaad at Yorth and

Feal gstreets was sold as Feal's Addition iz 1897 and its subdivieion spurred many

Longinc starts in the area {Holonald. 1878: 129). HMador East Dalias streets grill
bear the Pezkt's name and those ¢f his children: Junius, Worth. Vistor and Carroll.

githar ewned. controlled. or infiuenczd the sale of large parcels of East Dallas
2! gefars Hz “"flambovantly promctsd his axtsnsive Fast Dallas holdings in 1884

atizl residence in the middles of Zi1s property

=t

trrc tne coinzrrustion of 3 n3

{razed 18231, Hie real sstate promotien wzg characteristic of thz beoomteve
1" sners thor smweleped 211 of 2ellae JZurius thz wesrs bstwsen the arri—sl =f rhz
Taiteazdr o8 thz Jeprassione 2f the 1%90z: srandisse and unfeotetzrzd. HMan



additicn to smaller but substantial homes on Live Qak, Junius. and Worth streets
fSzxon. 1983: 18). Most were of the largest homes were demolished and their lots

sold for redsvelcpment between 1920 and 1950 (Sanborn maps 1905, 1922; City

directoriasi.

One of East Dallas' first organized real estate deve=lopments was the result of
a streetcar enterprise.  Strest railroads became popular with real estate
grcwcte?s who purchased large szctions of 1and and then built straetcar lines te
the propertv. Prior to the construcrien éf their San Jacinto street railroad in
East Dallas, brothers C. E. and ¥. J. Kaller purchased abour 100 acres of land z*
its evehtual terminus (Powers, 196%: 39, 23). In 1886. Colonel Keller extended the

linz soutk. down Vashinaton Avenus. te ths fairgrounds where hz created Shady View

Park, 3 emzll picnic grounds. as =zp attrac

tion to potential buyesraz. The Kellsrs
had successfully premoted The Cedars in this manner and the practice bacame a
hallmark of strzercar/r2al estate promotions during this speculative era. T. 5.

*

d his Dak Cliff subdivision. opened in 1887, with enticements of

fu

Marcalis nromot

W

cark vith 2 zzvrilizn and a baseball fisld. Still others ran strestcar lines pas:

s to their property heping te atiract those who spant their Sunday outings

it

e .
CERnatarl

1l

4 Laae

rigiting their dearly departed (Powers, 1969: 63). Keller's Addition was the first

nf its kind in East Dallas. The first home constructed in Keller's Addition was

¥aller's own. at the northeast corner of Ross and Washington avenues in that same
vear. Ksller's Addition. and Ross Avsnue in particular. boastsd some of the most

prestizicus addresesze in Dallas irom aboutr 12

g5 of Faer Dalilas
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prosperzd in the boom nf the late 1880s and =arly 1890s (McDonald, 1878: 137. 1475,

The proiifarvaticsn of strestozy lines Dotwasn 1597 and 1E5%: wz2g srobably ths
————— = R L L e i e f—. L el  H I A LR e e e T s W Iy ~AF Basr T2l Tora e PRI
1 R 27 imporian ac TTnarinuting to the sucesss of East Tallas durina that
e o R Fempe AT *hrmgp 1193 S Frxe= Tallige rentasd paveam Aghe ss o~ +n t -
~prind fome af theose Iivine In Egss liag rented ngom cakz To commute o ths



city

I<'

or the union depct (Eidt. conversation 1990) and others undcubtedly used their

own horse-drawn buggiss. evident in the number of personal stables sizuated at th

i)

rear eof grand residesnces along Swiss and Gaston Avenues (Sgnborn maps. 190%:
Gooden. 1986: 48). However, those who did own horses and buagies began to prafar
the thrift and convenience of the streetcar. A ride downtown at this time cost
five cents or less. cheaper than the cost to board a horse and carriage (Nichols.
wonvarsation March 30, 1990). 2s Dallas grew further and further away from the
central busin.ss discrict. it was imperativs that reliakles transvorration he
availahle for workers. Many nesighborhoods existed only due to streetcar acgess and

developers took advantags of that fact. McDonald explains:

The areas that raceived transit service were. of course,-almest
in7ariakly the areas »ith the largest subsequent growth. and *hs decision
2z to where the linesz would run very often was made by a land ﬂ=!el ber
hd either cwned the streetcar company himself, or influenced its polisy
through 2 deft donatien of land to the right people. Streetcars guite
dominated the city's pattern of evolution znd growth. simply berauvse thay

were the easiest and the cheapest (though not always the guickest! means
of getting out of the rapidly commercializing downtown (McDonald. 1978:
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Dallas develovment had grown along Swiss Avenue. Live Oak anid Bryan
streets te their intersections with Texas and Cantegral streets, just west of the

proiect area. This was the exact area covered by strest railroads at that time

ozt oareas vied for straeccocr oaccrss but Swiss Avenus residents patitizrad the

neigs and commotion (Powers, 1985: 47%.  When St Harve's Episcopal Callags opanzd
Lo oraTunegsn Rogse and kryIn. rhough o thov recantsd as vesrls clamored for
TUEREDOrLIIIon U The prastigioar sohost. The ruzsult ctnz that th: DRallsas
Jengoiidated Strsst Piviway Corrany cbrained ths right of way acrose Swizs LuUanus

it
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to Taxas Street, from Texas Street to Live Oak Street. thern north on Peak Avenue to
Bryan Straet all the way to Garrett S%reet. traversing the entire width of the
Sarvice was initizted about 1888 and the Bryan lins, as it was
knewn. became the major crosstown streetcar serving the northern section of East
Dallas (Powers. 1969: 78; Eidt. conversation, 1990}, opéning up gll cf Fast Dallas
tc wide-scale develcpment. ‘Betwegn 1886 and 1890, Dallas real estate transfers

d frox under £6 million tc over 514 million. much of it concentrated in East

]
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Dzlliz. Th: completion of thz Brvan line was followed by the opszning of Middleton

wi

Brothars’ Addition. Hunstables's Tellege Hill Addition, Livingston Place, Pealk's
Additian. Taruth Heichts. Mussbaumer and McCov'’s Addition and the Belmont Addition.

betwesn 1268 and 1892 (McDonald. 1978: 153). A1l were accessible fo the Brvan

lin=.

Typically, thers was little planning involved in the opening of these

additicns bevond running a strzetear line out to z vacant field owned by the

eperaters, subdividing the land and selling it for a handscoms profit. Lots were

0

fran sald hafore strests z2nd utilitiss could be 1aid out (HeDenald, 1978: 153} and

& aerz promise that strezetcar lines would be introduced. The Henry

tn
4]
=]
[}
]
'l‘
]
[1H
I
3]
v3
-+
j= g

Clark and James Simpson addition between Pezak Avenue and Hall Street, to the

northwast of ths project area. was onz example. The develeners began building

Erczd avenues and artesian wells eon their 65 acre tract in 1887 with ths

erpsztation of instailing 3 streetcar linas through it. The promise of a street

mh . “ gy vy 1 . - - <Y .y L R ] 3
The pomurben land Reow was zn Zull ewing whaen smesrliv 21l buildine came tooan

abvnpt hals orith eh zoonowmis frash oof 12020 Whils soms Tamas conmunitias vers
anfazad by the nationwide depressincn, Tallinz had hecome Iinked to eaztern and
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northern markets and their 1eading banking instituticns. When those instituticns
foundersd. Dallas fcllowed. The failitre of the Philadelphia & Reading Railroad in
Februarv. 1893 startad a nationwide panic that left 158 naticnal banks and 415
state and private banks in ruins. Five Dallasrbanks failed in the crash and local
business and agricultural concerns suffered as a result (MacDonald. 1978: 70).
UInchecked real estate spsculation prior to.the.crash left Dallas overbuilt and many
newlv crensd additions in er near the project area remained vacant for vears
afrerrard {Ballas Morning Hews. Zcrobzry 1. 193%). The Carnuth H;ights-hddition
locatzd cn a portion of the o0ld Caruth homestead hetwesn Ross znd Swise avenues,
and C€arr2ll and Fitzhugh strests. is an example. The addition was subdividad as a3
widdle-clizss devslcoment during the hzight of the boom in 1889. but the 1893 crash
sravinted 1vs devslepment. For many vears after it was opened. nothing was
cenztrucsed in ths additien and it was well after the turn c¢f the cantury before
attention was again focusad on the arsa (McDonald. 1978: 154). Many individuals
who had figured prominent}y in the East Dallas real estate frenzy lost fortunes in
the Icwn:u:ﬁ- Thomag Field not only lost several aajor projects in proaress but
his palstial heme. 3s well. The effects of the dspression reverberated throughout
the ity and had repurcussione en manv of the city's enterprises. including
strestezr and real estate consortiums. apd essentizlly ended the early. speculative
ara {Fgwars. 1969: 92). Tt did. however, allow time for some raflection and the

next vha2se 2f development in Ezst Dallias was a more cautious sndeavor.

sF=neomgh Tallas began to rzhound fryom the depression about 1$9%. Fast Dalias

3i3 not fully recover for 2lmost a decade after the crash (Dallas Morning News.

Sutoker U BA3RY, When th: sconomy ksozn ta pick up “here wag 2 rosurgance of
sigiiozTinl :u:liz;c in the arzz. parTioularly in fthe preodect zrez. znd churches
zrtowesnc o ware comstruasisf T oaTcomnidate the dincrezzsed populatian. David
sorokett Zlementary Schocil Budls din 1383 by the flrn of (., W, Bulger and Sznoon
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Dallas. Bulger

Carrell Strest. ic the oldest extant school in the citv o

1l s

14}

2lso designzd the Ceclonial School in the Colonial Hi

[T

in Baptist churches. One of the hest sxamples of their work 1s the Classi

cal

ction but they specialiczd

Gaston Aivenue Baptist Church, built katween 1902 and 1904 at the scuthwest corner

of Gaston and Haskell avenues (McDorald, 1978: ). The East Dallas Christian Church

at €31 M. Peak was built shortly after 1905 replacing an =sarlier dwelling
gitz. The imposing Meo-Clasz sical mansion at the coraner of Peak and Swiss

was cviginzlly built 35 a rasidence but it served the prestigious Terrill

b

.
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for Bovs as a dormitcry through the 19205 {Sanborn maps 1905, 102 ity

2t North Hzaskel
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Dirsctorizst. Dominating the 4100 block of Junius

cn that

1 ivenu=.

iz the Gothrz Revival Grace Methedist Episcopal Chursh designed bv W. A. Cazn in
19032, Tha church sanctna v znd its 1925 sducation znnsxm ars liszted on the Maticnzl
Regizter oFf Yigtoric Places, Parishonegr Henriettz Fidrt veccuntsd thatr Grace Churcsh

was considsrad te be "the silk-stocking church of East Dallas" becauss of the many
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:cnversation. March 39, 1290)., Thege Tast Dallas inztitutional and veligi
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of exclusive Munger Place who attended its services (Eidt.
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A

churchezs. ons store. a carpznter’'s shop, and a nurserv. Ross Avenue ceomtinuad its

Fifth Avenue" a2z it zxtended in the project area with the

role 2z "Nallas’

earecticon of magnificent Colonial Ravival and Prairie-influenced homes. almost all

of which have been demolishad. One of the few remaining palatial residences on

Rcss Avenue is that built by Charles H. Alexander. c. 1906, at the northsast corner

of Ross Avenue and RAnnex Street. It was purchased and resto red by the Dallas
Yomen's Ferum in 1930 (McDonald. 1978: 141. 143). An axception to the svarall

£ment of the Dallas Ccnseclidarted
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Strzet Railway complex. coverinz thrszz-guartsrs of the blcck betveen Elm and Main
streets where they crossed Peak Avenuve (Sanbsrn maps. 1899, 1905).
Tun Izzters were taking shape in 1908 that had : major impact on housing stvlsas

in the popularity fronm ths
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latter Victorian-era stvles to the emerging Prairie and Mission Revival stvles.

development of Mungsr Placz. one of Dallasz' first planhad.

Aftasr carefully

heavrily~rastrictad. nzighborhoods {Gooden. 19826; 51Y.

. Munger bhought raw
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farmland n-zv orastigious St. Marv's Co ment of Munger Place.
Berweszn 1905-1925. some of Dallas’' most promising architecis gained their

rzputations kuilding medern, vrogressivs homes in Hission Revis 7al. Colenizl

Cclonial Revival wariations on Frank Llovd Uright's Prairie

Ricmoush oo part of this orolest area was in Menmer Placs proper. ks

plannad devslopment lav immediataly tc the zast and
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zze shared the same streetcar lines and maijor thoroughfares as the rest of East

Dzllas hnut it did not share the nethods of development.

Munger chosz to skip over East Dallas for his subdivision, perhaps in part
because of the noisome and flood-prone creeks that flowed through ths ared (Dlder
Mzighborhoods. re. 33} but more likely because East Dallas was so unevenly

Thers was nuch vacant land in the proiect ‘ar=a in 1995 but Hunger

} b

h:iz 2n spportunity to completely cortrel the lavout and design of a nzw

soodivision. Munger attempted to avoid the commercizl and industrial encrcachment

1)

that plagusd pravisus developmants liks Th

Z.=sinpment long bzefore Dallas enacted restrictive zoning ordinances of itvs own.

R

nifeormirvy was achiszved bHv meeting Zoning restricticns. such as height, distznca

args. vacant tract of covisn land heyond its zastern sdees that cffer: :

Cedars by regulating all aspacts cof his

from the strest. 2nd ccost minimums: they [houses? generally have symmetrical facade

=vatisns. central dormers ovar the entrv bay. low-pitched roofs. and broad frons

iznizeaping znd outbuildings and placed utilities and services off the main
strzets. The appezl of a planned, uniform neighborhood was tremendous in Dallas
»% atrtractzd judoss. dectors, lawvers. railroad magnates and oilmen (0ldar

Hitzhkeorhoeds. 12836: 26}, Fast Dallas. with its array of out-cof-fashion manszicns.

hre=ramgrdioc niasced ocutkuildings, and vazant lote adjacent €2 rovz of simpls frams
Frvees and th: kRezinninge of somuorcoial nodes at streetczr intsz:zsctions., coould o
comratz with Mungsr Place for ewxclusivity., Junius Heigh+ts. Hishlan? Park | =nd

[
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Comnmercial enterprises began to spring up

in thé 1916s and tended to

prelifarats on the streetear linss. aspecially at the intersections of two lines.

A comparison of 1905 and 1922 Sanborn maps shows the profound influence these

intersecting carlines had in converting residen

Bryvan and Peak and Elm and Peak areas commercia

tial areas to commercial. Cita

1 blocks X . Interurkan railways

began running in the arsa about 1908 and, although they did not offer local

rvicz. hzd zn influence on the neighbeorheods

n
1]

internrhan linz was establishkzd in 1902 and ran

through which they ran. The Bryan

along the zane strest as ths

strestcar {Gcoden. 1986: 55), It is notable that by 1922, Bryan Strast. especizlly

whers it intersected with Peak Avsnus, had the
project area. Autemobiles were also having an
antomekile was roegistered in Dallas County in i

increzsec=d to zhout 15.000. most =f it in the ci
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in Pallzs znd served to push th

{}]

mast commersial buildings in the
imrpact on ths area. The first
901. By 1917registration had

v
.

[v2])

ty of Dallas (Gooden. 1986: §

ity sven further frem its center. Sone

way suburban growth and development nccurrszd

developers began addressing the automobile in their promotions in addition to the

ztrzzrtoare. Yhils R. 8. Munger took carz to court tha extension of Consolidated

stregtcar Iines to his developmant. Hunger Plac

heuse-fronting streets located off the streetes

ad
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he streetozr™. but by 1017 ¢
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JStrezt fth. gastorn boundary of 1905 Sanbsrn maps) where ¢

Park. Munger Place and other outlying dev elop maents grev, land and building use

r part 2f the project aresa began to change. By 1922, almost ne vacant

in

the 214z
areas remained in the project area with the exception of the large estates built

befere about 1905. When their wealthy owners began moving to the more fashicnable

developments further out, the estates were broken up for re-development one by one.

The szvoradic evolution and re-definition of the area centinued to contribute to the

unavan appeirance of East Dallas. The 1922 Sanborn maps show many largs homes with

a handful <f largs sstatzs vremaining on Swi and Gaston avenuse but compmersial

u

lar

=

&

Brvan. S5an Jazints. and Elm streets and aleng Pezk Avenue running perpendic

and connecting the crosstown lines (Sanborn maps 1905, 1922Y. At the southera

devzicpment had already rsplaced residences along the crosstown streatcar rsutes o

to

teundavy of the project arsa. the Main and Elm Street lines convergesd at Carroll

|’
6]

serged ints the

=
4]
L

Columbia line along the southern edgs of Munger Flace. Restaurants. drugstcrzs.

grocerzas. and dry clsaning establishments appearsd along the lines and at thair

ntzrszscrione Ly 1922, TIn 1922, there vag a f£ire on Peaak Strast that burned 237

horag eo the ground (WPA. Faul Mvers. "Parks” po. 6. Bow 4357, 1940). The homes

wers raplaczd with commercial enterprises taking advantage of the streetcar

frontage.

One of the most cutstanding changes that tock nlace in the project ares

Retrroan zbout 121T and 1920 was the advent o5 large apartment buildings. nany of
thiznh wimain in the project arwa Tite X . By 932, boarding houses and AparTna
hergn crepning up in the strests bounded by Swiss and Saston avenues betwsen
Yamk=17 Zvsruz and farrell Strest, ravlacing sone of the area’s larqgess ss-i-oc
mEInsIons tioodon, 13&6r I4: ESapnkeora mans 15324 Tha Dallas City Diractory I-or
TizTa oz rznariatlaoausber of J-storv apartrant Enildinss at alimost avavy
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on in the project area. Again. their location at strestcayr intzrsactions
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The straetcar linss continued to szrve the proiact area throughout ths 1920s
and 1930s. but they no longer figured prominently in its devalopment as a

residential neighborhood. The principal rontribution of the lines from tha> time

formrard wag in re-development. The conversien of propertiss frowm residentizl te

TommerTial nse along main streetear routss initiated a trend that continued past

the streetcar erz to the present. ercding the residential fabric on adjacens
srreets (Sankorn maps. 1303, 1922). Streatcars themselves were beginnine =:

decline in importance as automobile use increased. Dallas Countv led the s-zzs

-

7ich 34.0499 automobiles rsgistered in 1931, Garages. gas stations and parking

1

tc zxpear con the citv'e landscaps. Ircniczllv. th
ol - I -
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:ansion of former strest-railway vpresident. Jules E. Schneider. was ==rn
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ridership increased slightly through the 1920s until its height in 1229 fGzcdsen
l3gg: 71y, Afrter that vear. the Great Depressicn climinated manv work-relazzd

Trips. and ridership fell steadilv until the lattar 1930s. Even theugh cuklzc
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transportation increased during World Wayr II when the government restricta
ind tirass. streetcars never again had the prominence thev held in the pre-

sutomobile vears of suburban rzal estats devslopment.

23t Depressgion and Tawas Cartenniz=l Fair i 1936 bhoth, encouraszs -v3rd-

family ues of older dwellines to East Zali-=. The hard vears cof thz despression
Invczd zonmz farilies to take in boarders. During the Centannial. large heousse in
wrars Tlzop vrere Zividod Into reoome traft reated for $1.00 sar nighr (Eifs
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nd of the 1930s. Writer's Proiect researcher Paul Myers described East

1]

By thsz

in in thase terms:
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Almost every trace of the past has been obliterated by medern
development. Recurrent waves of construction have wiped out olgd
‘buildings to make room for new ones. To the sast of the buginess
district is a fringe of residential sections - boarding and rooming
houses once owned by socially prominent families.. They extend to Brvan.
Live Oak. Swiss 2nd Ross. These houses are zlmost the only architectural
rerinders of the =1d citv (WPA 4357, "Dallas Todav". pg. 2. 1940}

¢}

Goodan's invastigaticn of the 19240 census trachs ravealsd that pertions of th

a2 lines rnzt. wWere

o
[4}]
th

roject 3rea. particularlv near the streetcar barns where th

N

n

cngestad and run down. ©OFf the housss remaining in the block between Paskell and

Peak avrenues. Elm and Main strazts. 80 to 100 parcent rave .in need of aajor repairs

or lzcked privrate baths. In the eutire area lesc than 20 parcant of the heonmess wers

owner occupied at that time (Gooden, 1986:-84). Fitzhugh Avenue. the zastarn

poundary hetween the proiect area aznd Munger Placs, had become a majicr crosstown
automobile thoroughfare by 1932, Initially a rzsidential area, the intsrsection.of
Fitzhugh Avenue with the Columbia Street carlins gensrated eight businessss,

inciuding two ras stationsz. by 1832, By 1942, ccommarciazl growth was spread

[

ng into
tha rroject arsa westward from Fitzhugh Avenue and most of the blocks cetween
Hasksll Avanue and Fitzhugh contained a humber of multi-family dwellings. Gaston
of

unber

=
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znd Swisze avenues. once the domain of proud hemes. hzd the largast

amlti-farpily dwellings in -—he proiect area. and Gasten Avsnue had hecome 3 major

Tomomskiis thaovaughfars o6 odsn. 1286: 5-86: Sankarn maps 1007y Cire dfvestoriess
1920. 1540},

Forid Tzr II brouzhr aurker of dofenz: todustrizz So Dallas. zush sz the
Trrd Movor wiznt on East Srondo Louanus Thzt produced nilacary vwamIizisz Yd-odan
TRET e T A, Pesple flocthed -t otho citv o for <hs ichs 3nd thz vozuisinct houszing
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shortags accelerated the conversion ¢f East Dallas from a primarily single-family
residential ar;; to a muiti-fanily neiqhborhood. The goverament unwittinglw
assistsd-that process by asking local residgnts to rent rooms to the temperary
workers to aid the war effort. Many who ownsd large homes in East Dallas
batriotically complied with the reguest, which served to further identify the area
with multi-family housing. This image may have led to the post-war re-zoning cf

the entire area for apartments. 1In some cases the older housss wera demoliszhad far

2]
o

apartment buildings and parking lots (Goodan. 19%6: 86). ZAnother chang
Horld ¥ar IT Once a bastion of white. gentile Texans. East Dallas' ethnic makeup
has changed a great deal since Vorid Yar IT with more hispanie arnd 2frican American

rasidents. In recent years 2 nunber of Asgian immigrants have settlad in Fzst

Dailzs neighborhoods. adding <z its nulti-culturalitv.

The trends that began in the 1920s gaining momentum in the 1930s and :240s.
continue to erode the single-family residential character of East Dallas in the
present. Once an entively res:dantial neighborhoed. East Dallss iz wow a composita

rchitectural types. stvles. and uses dating from the turn of the century

Q
Hh
o]

throughk the 1970s. Single-family residences from the first thrae decades i tha
20th cantury stand alongside apartment complexes and commercial buiidings thart
sprang up along the strestcar lines. The combination of building tvpes ani uses

spanning seven decades of Dalias' history makes East Dallas one of Dailag' more

2lectic inner-2ivy neighborhosds.
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